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Foreword I
In this remarkable study Michael S. Phillips presents a vignette of 

Jewish experience in one street in Mainz in the 1930s and 40s. His 

work opens the reader’s eyes to the systematic stigmatisation, per-

secution, deportation to the camps and murder there of the Jewish 

population in Nazi Germany and the countries they occupied during 

those tragic years.

	 His starting place is the escape of his Jewish grandmother, Milly 

Schwarz, from Berlin in 1939. A widow in her forties, her flight from 

persecution was only made possible by the payment of huge sums 

of money to secure a passport and permission and sponsorship by 

close Jewish friends settled in England, the family of Alice Morreau.  

She had to leave much behind, including property and a profitable 

business that she had managed successfully for many years following 

the death of her husband. She could no longer visit her childhood 

home, a substantial house at 32 Kaiserstrasse in Mainz, where her 

mother Auguste and sister Anna were living until the three of them 

fled together for England.

	 Milly Schwarz settled first in Manchester and then in Guild-

ford, Surrey where she worked as a school cook. She brought up 

her grandson, Michael, from the age of two almost entirely on her 

own after Michael’s parents divorced. Sadly her daughter, Michael’s 

mother Anneliese was to take her own life six years later. This book 

is to some measure a tribute to Milly, who often talked about the 

house on Kaiserstrasse, which she loved, the street and their friends 

and neighbours who lived nearby. 

	 After her death, Michael decided to research the history of the 

wealthy Jewish families with prosperous businesses—similar to his 

own—that lived on the street shortly before and during World War 
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Two.  He has visited Mainz several times and has been welcomed by 

local researchers, neighbours, a former teacher from the girls’ high 

school on the corner that Milly attended, and others who supported 

the project.  He found many properties, including his grandmother’s 

house, had been flattened by Allied bombing during the war and re-

placed by modern office blocks. The original buildings that remain 

are now protected due to their historical architectural importance. 

	 While the Jewish community that once lived on Kaiserstrasse 

has been destroyed along with many of their former homes, small 

brass bricks embedded in the pavement preserve the memory of 

individual residents murdered by the Nazi regime. Images of these 

‘Stumbling Stones’ are included in the book, which also contains 

photographs and other illustrations that bring the information Mi-

chael discovered to life. The fates of the individuals featured in this 

book are indicative of what was happening to Jews everywhere in 

Nazi-controlled territory, which resulted in the near elimination of 

Jewish families and communities in Europe. This is a work of scru-

pulous scholarship and family devotion.

Rosalind Wilson (née Morreau) 
Retired peace education facilitator and higher education lecturer, active 
member of Amnesty International, poet, and granddaughter of Alice 
Morreau.
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Foreword II
On 9 May 2018, three ‘stolpersteine’ were laid in the pavement out-

side 32 Kaiserstrasse in Mainz. The small brass plaques serve as 

individual memorials to the lives of Auguste Gutmann and her adult 

children Anna and Karl Gutmann, former residents of the house 

who were murdered by the Nazi regime because they were Jewish. 

	 Auguste’s oldest daughter Milly Schwarz survived the Nazi atroc-

ities committed during the Second World War. She fled to England 

in 1939, where she lived out the rest of her days. She died in 1977 

aged 82. Her grandson Michael S. Phillips attended the stolpersteine 

ceremony, as did I. I could see that it was a deeply emotional event 

for him.

	 Only after Milly’s death, Michael felt he could investigate his 

family Jewish roots. He began visiting Mainz and the city archives 

to conduct research. With the help of local historians with whom 

he soon became good friends, he was able to reconstruct the fate of 

Auguste, Anna and Karl. He also discovered more stolpersteine in 

Kaiserstrasse. The street where his grandmother grew up is a large 

boulevard lined with big four-storey houses built between 1880 and 

1914 in the typical Wilhelminian style. There’s a pretty green park 

running down the centre. Before they were forced to leave due to 

Nazi persecution, many Jewish families had resided in these grand 

residential buildings, which also housed business premises, offices 

and medical practices. 

	 As Michael discovered, several of his family’s neighbours were 

deported by the Gestapo to concentration camps and murdered, 

while others managed to emigrate to overseas. This book is a compi-

lation of an amazing amount of information, photographic evidence 

and documents he has found that describe the fate of hundreds of 
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individuals. However, it tells more than just the story of Jews that 

lived on this particular street. Kaiserstrasse serves as a microcosm 

for the fate of the 2,600-strong Jewish community that was living in 

Mainz in 1933, when Nazi harassment began in earnest. 

	 The destruction of the Jewish community in this neighbourhood 

and in the wider city was a human tragedy and has resulted in an 

irreversible economic, social and cultural loss to the city. Michael’s 

book is an impressive memorial to the Jews of Kaiserstrasse and, 

furthermore, to all the Jews of Mainz and beyond.

Dr. Hedwig Brüchert
Historian, researcher at the Institute for Regional Historical Studies at 
Mainz University, and author of several books on the Jewish history of 
Mainz.
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Chapter 1. Escape
On 8 March 1939, my grandmother, Milly Schwarz, was finally grant-

ed permission to travel. Her German passport and exit visa were 

stamped with a red capital ‘J’ indicating she was Jewish. She had paid 

almost 1 million Reichsmarks, the equivalent then to $400,000 or 

£87,000 1—an extraordinary sum—as a capital tax applied to all Jews 

that wanted to leave Germany. A businesswoman living in Berlin, 

she had been trying to escape Nazi Germany for years. All her pre-

vious attempts, including to move her textile company to England, 

had been denied.

	 Her documents arrived just in time. A week later, the Nazi regime 

occupied the rest of Czechoslovakia it had yet to annex. Nazi Party 

leader and Führer, Adolf Hitler had already instigated the takeover 

of Austria a year earlier, and was poised to invade Poland at the be-

ginning of September, an act that would trigger Britain’s declaration 

of war with Germany and the start of the Second World War. 

	 That April, aged 45 and having lived her entire life in Germany, 

Milly fled. The owner, president and chief executive of Schwarz & 

Son, a large business with textile factories in Greiz in eastern Ger-

many and Riga, Latvia, she was a wealthy and accomplished woman. 

She was prohibited from taking any of her money with her and was 

forced to abandon most of her possessions, as well as a substantial 

house, and her profitable business. She had run the company since 

1925, when she inherited a majority stake from her husband Wal-

ter Schwarz. He was killed when their chauffeur-driven car crashed. 

They had only been married five years.

	 My grandmother seldom spoke about the years before World 

War II. As a child I didn’t think to ask her, and as an adult I did not 

wish to upset her by asking painful questions about such a sad time 
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in her life. But I assume her mother Auguste Gutmann and her sister 

Anna Gutmann travelled the 600 or so kilometres east from their 

home town Mainz, which sits on the Rhine in the heart of German 

wine growing country, to join her in Berlin. Possibly they left with-

out reporting their movements or obtaining permission. I suspect 

the three of them then set off by train for the Netherlands and trav-

elled by boat to England from the Hook of Holland. There is no 

record of their route or their reliance on support from any Jewish 

charity. Milly would have had sufficient funds to pay their way.

	 Milly’s younger brother Karl, who, excluded from job opportu-

nities in Mainz because he was Jewish, had already left Germany 

in the mid-1930s for Riga, where he assisted the Schwarz textile 

operations. There he was protected—for a short while—from the es-

calating social, political and economic persecution of Jewish people 

in Nazi Germany epitomised by anti-Jewish riots in November 1938. 

During Kristallnacht, mobs attacked Jewish businesses, property and 

synagogues abetted by the police and ratcheting up unchecked an-

ti-Jewish violence in a horrible foreshadowing of what was to come.

	 Milly, Auguste and Anna arrived in Manchester where they were 

taken in by the family of Alice Morreau, the sister of Milly’s best and 

lifelong friend Berthe Goetz. Marcus, Alice’s late husband, had been 

a successful businessman involved in the textile and, to a lesser ex-

tent, wine trades. Milly was reunited with her 18-year-old daughter 

Anneliese (my mother) and her son Max Walter (known as Walter), 

who was a year younger. Milly had sought to shield them from the 

increasingly savage anti-Semitism in Germany by sending them 

abroad for their education. 

	 Sponsored by the Morreau family, Walter attended boarding 

school at Dartington Hall from May 1933. In 1939, the Morreau’s 

generosity extended to sponsoring my grandmother, Walter and 
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Anneliese, who made her way from Switzerland where she had been 

attending the International School in Geneva, having already spent 

time at Dartington in 1935, as well as at a private German school in 

Ascona, where Milly kept a sizeable villa (either owned or rented). 

Auguste and Anna, who were without British sponsors, could not 

stay. They travelled on to Riga to join Karl. The Schwarz factories 

there were still generating income and they believed they would be 

safe among a growing community of German exiles. That was not to 

be the case.

	 My grandmother was a tough woman. She was very modern 

for her time and not shy. One striking example of her unwilling-

ness to give in is the courtcase she launched in the 1930s against Dr 

Otto Olwein, her mandatory Nazi party business partner, and her 

non-Jewish brother-in-law, a Nazi-sympathiser, when they sought 

to exploit Aryanisation laws to take control of her company. Re-

markably, she won. Using his Nazi Party connections, it was Olwein 

who helped facilitate Milly’s escape. It was not altruistic. In return, 

he finally succeeded in stealing her business.

	 Although safe, the transition to life in England could not have 

been easy. She settled in a house in Guildford (Surrey), an environ-

ment in stark contrast to material comfort that she left behind. She 

had also left many of her friends, extended family members and 

the places that were significant to her, importantly 32 Kaiserstrasse, 

her mother’s house and the place where Milly said she had enjoyed 

a very happy and loving childhood. Middle-aged and widowed, now 

living in a foreign country with two teenage children, she had to be-

gin again.
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Childhood

Amalie (Milly) Gutmann was named after her paternal grandmother 

(Amalie Gutmann née Adler), who died a year before Milly was born 

on 21 September 1894. She was the oldest child of Ferdinand Gut-

mann, a wine merchant, and Auguste (née Mayer) from Alzey. Milly 

attended the Höhere Mädchenschule, a Mainz state high school, 

along with her sister, Anna, who was six years younger, and mem-

bers of her extended family, as well as the daughters of many Jewish 

families who lived on Kaiserstrasse.

	 Around 1908 the family moved from 1 Kirchplatz (later renamed 

Bonifaziusplatz) in Mainz, where my grandmother was born, to 32 

Kaiserstrasse, a grand building on a magnificent street big enough 

to function as a family home and business premises. Indeed the ad-

jacent three properties (26, 28 and 30) housed the H. Sichel Söhne 

wine operation run by the founder’s three sons. Most of that family 

left before the war for France, England and the USA. One of the sons, 

Peter Max Ferdinand Sichel (b. 1922), returned in 1945 as a captain 

in the US Army to participate in the liberation of Mainz. He found 

the buildings burned to the ground but the cellars untouched, as 

recounted in his book The Secrets of My Life: Vintner, Prisoner, Soldier, 

Spy.2 They were apparently large enough to hold one million litres 

of wine, which was returned to the family, sufficient to revive their 

business. Post-war, it began to produce the popular brand Blue Nun.

	 Like many Jewish families, the Gutmanns had lived in the area 

for generations.  I have traced my ancestors as far back as their 

move from Fürth in Bavaria (next door to Nuremberg / Nürnberg) 

to Gross-Rohrheim in the 18th century, about 40 kilometres south 

of Mainz and the town where Milly’s father Ferdinand was born in 

1858. 
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	 Ferdinand’s father Samuel was active in the wine trade, but it was 

Ferdinand’s cousin Max Gutmann, who was instrumental in estab-

lishing the Gutmann wine business in Mainz. 3 Born in Hahn on 26 

May 1824, he probably grew up in Gross-Rohrheim and was possibly 

already producing wine in Mainz before he married Rosalie Mayer 

in 1852. 4 She was born in the city on 6 April 1834. In the same year 

Max married he became a citizen of Mainz. Between 1854 and 1867, 

Max and Rosalie had 10 children. During this time he entered into 

partnership with Eduard Saarbach as a wine wholesaler based at 41 

Grosse Bleiche, another grand street where Max’s family also lived. 5

	 Sometime before 1870, the business partners separated and the 

company split into two, but the connection between the families did 

not end. Eduard’s son August (1854-1912) married Max’s daughter 

Johanna (1863-1940), known as Jenny.

	 Around the same time Max formed his new business, Rosalie was 

listed in the commercial register as her husband’s managing clerk. 

The company was based at 12 1/10 Petersstrasse. It is fair to assume 

the company was doing very well. The labels on its bottles carried 

the endorsement “Grand Ducal Court Supplier” and “Court Suppli-

er to the Czar”.

	 By 1883, the business was based at 32 Boulevard, soon to be re-

named Kaiserstrasse. Upon Max’s death on 15 December 1896, 

ownership passed to his eldest son Siegfried (b. 11 March 1854) and 

his cousin Ferdinand, Milly’s father, who became company secretary. 

Ferdinand was already a ‘confidential clerk’ and had the authority 

to sign cheques. Rosalie, Max’s widow, assumed the role of general 

manager. Just before Max passed away, the business had expanded to 

trade in not just wine but also spirits. Max left a fortune to his widow 

and children, as suggested by this clipping I found in the Australian 
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press, detailing his son Joseph Gutmann’s inheritance. Like many of 

Max’s children, Joseph, who was born in 1860, had emigrated.

The Heir to a Fortune

Sassafras Gully, Saturday. 

A settler named Gutmann, who resides near the Olinda town-

ship, has come into a fortune of about £13,000 [More than $1 

million in today’s money] from his father, who has lately died 

in Germany.  

Source: The Melbourne Argus, Monday 22 March 1890

When Max died, Ferdinand had been married to Auguste for three 

years and they had one daughter, Milly, who was toddler. In 1897, 

Ferdinand became a citizen of Mainz and his son Karl was born. A 

second daughter, Anna, was born in 1900. Shortly after, in 1901, Ro-

salie died, followed in 1904 by her son Siegfried, who was unmarried 

and had no heirs. It seems that Ferdinand was left in sole charge of 

the business and around 1908, he started to use 32 Kaiserstrasse as a 

family home. While Max’s children never lived there, many of them 

resided in the same neighbourhood.

	 Kaiserstrasse was not Ferdinand’s home for long. In 1910, he died 

of cancer and is buried in the New Jewish Cemetery in Mainz, as 

are Max and Rosalie. Auguste took charge of the wine wholesale 

business, while also raising her three children. A woman playing 

an instrumental role in business is a theme of the Gutmann family. 

Some people may attribute it to strength of character, but I think 

they simply had no choice.

	 At the beginning of the First World War, Auguste was listed as the 

owner of the Max Gutmann Company, along with Chary (Zacharias) 

Gochsheimer and her only brother Paul Mayer, a banker who lived 

on a street close to Kaiserstrasse. 
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	 At the end of that war and the defeat of Germany and the oc-

cupation of the area by French forces, like many Mainz residents, 

Auguste let rooms in her house to French army officers. Again she 

probably had no choice, but it did allow her to generate addition-

al income. The cost of maintaining the building alone would have 

been a burden. Her daughter Milly and her future husband Walter 

Schwarz were already courting. He sent her love notes written in 

formal old German. Milly resided at 32 Kaiserstrasse until they mar-

ried on 11 May 1920 in a ceremony probably held at the house.  

	 Walter came from a prominent and wealthy Jewish family in 

Greiz—his grandfather Samuel sat on the town council—a small 

town about 400 kilometres from Mainz, not far from Germany’s 

border with the Czech Republic. Married and living in Greiz, Milly’s 

circumstances changed dramatically. Walter’s textile business occu-

pied several large premises, which employed several hundred staff 

and supported the family’s luxurious lifestyle. She gave birth to my 

mother on 6 April 1921, and my uncle on 15 December 1922. She had 

access to funds with which she could support her mother, brother 

and sister. While Schwarz & Son continued to thrive, in the face 

of rising anti-Semitism, Auguste struggled throughout the 1920s to 

keep her wine business afloat. It ceased to operate from about 1933 

onwards, crippled by punitive anti-Jewish legislation and attitudes, 6 

which are likely to have prevented Auguste and Karl, who was by 

then a co-owner, from procuring wine to sell. In contrast, the suc-

cess of the textile factories under my grandmother’s management 

provided her with the huge amount of funds she needed to pay the 

Nazi regime in order to leave Germany.

Friends

Alice Morreau (b.1880 in Calais; d.1971 Guildford) and Berthe Goetz 

(b. 1886 in Calais; d. 1971 in London), born Weinmann, were very 
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important figures in my grandmother’s life, and, her survival. They 

were both strong-willed and independently minded women. Alice 

and Berthe spoke French to each other—when they left Germany 

as young women, the Weinmanns lived in Calais in France before 

arriving in England—and German with my grandmother and En-

glish to me. Like my grandmother, Alice and Berthe were Jewish and 

brought up in a tight-knit community, but they were not religious. I 

remember many Christmases spent at Alice’s house.

	 I have often asked myself why Alice, who sponsored my grand-

mother to come to England, and her son Rene, who sponsored my 

uncle, and her daughter Madeleine who took responsibility for my 

mother, were so extremely generous to my grandmother. I believe 

the answer is that the Morreaus were distant relations of Milly’s 

mother’s family who also came from the Alzey area. They were also 

bound by friendship. My grandmother and Berthe, who was a de-

cade or so older were best friends from the time when Milly was 

a teenager until Berthe died. It is almost certain that Berthe intro-

duced Milly to her future husband Walter. Berthe’s mother-in-law 

and Walter’s mother were sisters. After Walter died in 1925, Milly, 

the mother of two children under five years old, suffered a severe 

breakdown. She left Greiz and took my mother and uncle to live 

in Berlin, close to Berthe and her husband Alfred—the same house 

she’d be forced to abandon 14 years later.

	 When Milly and her children arrived in England, not only did 

Alice open her home to the three of them before they moved south 

to Guildford, living initially with Alice’s daughter-in-law, but she 

also supported Milly financially. Until a year after Alice died in 1973, 

she provided Milly with £500 a year—a lot of money still even in the 

1970s and significantly more in the forties. 
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	 During the war, Milly cooked at a small local school, acted as a 

local warden and I know she had some interaction with German 

prisoners of war detained at Merrow Downs less than a mile from 

her home. 

	 In December 1940, Milly received the last communication from 

her sister Anna in Riga, where she was probably sharing a house with 

their mother Auguste, brother Karl and his wife Sonia and their little 

boy, Joe, born in 1937. 

	 The Cable and Wireless telegram was typed in rather garbled En-

glish, but I understand the gist of it to be: 

Best wishes to [Max] Walter, Karl is working hard to learn 

weaving, Sonja is juggling being a mother and housekeeper, 

Anny is hoping to find work.  

Kisses.	  

Anny Gutmann

	 Nazi forces invaded Latvia in July 1941 and immediately began 

murdering the Jewish and Roma populations. 7 Those Jews not killed 

in mass executions that autumn were forcibly moved into ghettos 

established in the Maskavas Forstate neighbourhood of Riga. The 

ghetto existed for more than two years and housed Jews from Lat-

via, Germany, Austria and Czechoslovakia. Upon its liquidation in 

mid-1943, the remaining residents were sent to Kaiserwald concen-

tration camp, built that year, to work as slave labour. The camp was 

evacuated in 1944 in the face of the Red Army advance. During this 

time, the Schwarz & Son factories in Greiz were appropriated to 

produce German military uniforms, including for SS paramilitaries.

	 As soon as the war ended, my grandmother tried to find out 

exactly what happened to her mother and siblings, and the textile 

operations. Alice’s daughter Madeleine helped her in her quest, but 
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it was difficult to make headway as Latvia then was part of the Soviet 

Union. My research indicates that by 1942, Auguste, Anna, Sonia and 

Joe, who would have been only five, were murdered in Riga. Karl 

was sent to the Russian front and died in a soviet labour camp in 

1945/46.

	 My grandmother was successful in claiming modest compensa-

tion from the West German government for the loss of her property 

and company (a claim she was obliged to pursue with her once ‘busi-

ness partner’ Otto Olwein). As a former business owner and chief 

executive of a German company, she also received a generous Ger-

man pension. It was enough to pay my school fees and for her to 

send money to her son Max Walter, who had served in the British 

Army during the war and qualified as a doctor before he emigrated 

with his wife and first son to Canada. Once the Berlin Wall fell in 

1989, I made my own successful claim for reparations. At the same 

time, Olwein made another claim on the company and failed.

Trauma

I believe trauma passes down the generations. My mother’s life, 

which could have been very different, was unsettled from an early 

age, mired as it was by personal tragedy set against a backdrop of 

volatile political scene in Germany. Losses, such as the accidental 

death of her father when she was little, and then the orchestrated 

murders of her best friend Cornelius and close family members in 

the Nazi concentration camps, must have had a significant impact.

	 My mother was extremely bright. She met my father, Ronald 

Stowell Phillips, while studying economics (with a focus on sociol-

ogy) at The London School of Economics (LSE) in the early 1940s. 

When the university was evacuated to Cambridge she continued her 

studies there and was an active committee member in the student 
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union. My father, who was vocally supportive of the communist 

cause, was completing his PhD thesis at the LSE. He undoubtedly 

impressed Anneliese. Despite her mother’s strong disapproval, they 

married in 1941. Upon graduation in 1943, with an upper-second 

degree, Anneliese began to work for the Workers’ Educational Asso-

ciation in Nottingham. I was born a year later. 

	 My grandmother looked after me frequently from around the 

time I was about six months old, and then permanently from when I 

was two. I was the first child she raised without the help of a nanny, 

cook or other household staff.

	 My parents’ marriage was short-lived and they divorced on 1 

September 1946.

	 I doubt my mother had the emotional or financial resources to 

care for a child. After the war, Anneliese lived in Oxford and earned 

a living by teaching. By 1951 she was living in rooms in Coventry. In 

the spring of that year, she travelled to Glasgow and killed herself by 

cutting her wrists. It was her second attempt.

	 It was only after my grandmother’s death in 1977 at age 82 that 

I began my quest to learn about my ancestors. I have visited Mainz 

and Kaiserstrasse countless times as an adult, but only twice with my 

grandmother as a child. One memory sticks in my mind of a holiday 

we took when I was about eight shortly after my mother had died. I 

don’t know why we went but I’m sure that was a factor. I stayed with 

my mother’s former nanny, whose youngest son was my age, for a 

couple of weeks. She and my grandmother remained very close. My 

grandmother also remained friends with her former cook for the 

rest of her life. 

	 Milly took me to Kaiserstrasse to show me where the house once 

stood. Bombed in 1942 by the British Royal Air Force (RAF), in its 



20	 Jews of Kaiserstrasse

place stood a modernist block. However, the handsome facades of 

the few surviving properties on the street suggested its former glory. 

I cannot recall what my grandmother said about the street, beyond 

telling me that even the RAF had left their mark on the house, and I 

have no idea what she felt standing there once again. But I do know 

there was once a vibrant Jewish community of my grandmother’s 

friends, family and neighbours living there, and now there is not. 

	 It is important to me, but also a worthy task in itself to document 

how these families were forced to flee or were persecuted, impris-

oned, hounded, attacked, robbed and transported from their homes 

and ultimately murdered. In the following pages I have attempted 

such a task.

Special Find

Researching the Gutmann family has been a long process. I’ve been 

helped in this task by Mainz-based historian Reinhard Frenzel, who 

has undertaken considerable research on what happened to the 

pupils of the Höhere Mädchenschule—by then the Frauenlob-Gym-

nasium—where he taught English.

	 I first met Reinhard 25 years ago, when he first showed me the 

school, the house where my grandmother was born at 1 Bonifazius-

platz, and, Kaiserstrasse. At a much later date he asked me to help 

him find out more about the children of Max Gutmann’s daughter 

Emma Neumann. Her daughter Louise Neumann lived in New York 

and survived the war, while her other daughter Margarete escaped 

to England. Reinhard believed Margarete’s daughter Elsbeth Juda 

(née Goldstein) was living in London and asked me to investigate. 

	 I exhausted all avenues before I decided to simply look for Els-

beth in the telephone directory. I found one E Juda living in London 
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and wrote to her. To my astonishment, she telephoned me. And 

then, aged 99, she sent me an email.  I mentioned this discovery to a 

family member, who it turned out, had known Elsbeth for 40 years, 

totally unaware that we were all linked. 

	 Elsbeth, who died in 2014, was a well-known fashion and portrait 

photographer. 8 One of her more famous projects was to document 

artist Graham Sutherland as he painted a portrait of Winston Chur-

chill, commissioned to celebrate his 80th birthday. Apparently the 

former British prime minister hated the portrait and it was nev-

er displayed and later destroyed. However, images from the shoot 

survive. Elsbeth donated her archive of it to the National Portrait 

Gallery in London. 9
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Fig. 1.1 Max Gutmann Wine Company Letterhead. Source:  Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.2 Max Gutmann Wine Company Wine Bottle. 
The business was based at 32 Boulevard, renamed Kaiserstrasse. 
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 1.3 Max Gutmann’s signature, May 1853. Source: Mainz City Archives, Reference: 70/16327.
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Fig. 1.4 Grave of Max and Rosalie 
Gutmann in the New Jewish 
Cemetery, Mainz. Source:  
Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 1.5 Johanna ‘Jenny’ Saarbach (née 
Gutmann). Jenny was Max Gutmann’s 

eighth child. She married August 
Saarbach, the son of Max’s  

business partner Eduard Saarbach. 
She died on 24 July 1940 at the 
Jewish Hospital aged 77. Source: 

Christine Meska Thorsrud,  
Jenny’s granddaughter. 
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Fig. 1.6 Gutmann homes. Using Google Maps, I have created a map of locations in and around 
Kaiserstrasse where members of the Gutmann family lived. Source: Google Maps; Michael S. Phillips 
Archive.
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Fig. 1.7 Marriage certificate for Ferdinand Gutmann and Auguste ‘Gustel’ Mayer. 
Auguste (my great grandmother) took over the family wine business upon her husband’s death 
on 15 August 1910. Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.8 Auguste Gutmann. Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.9 Auguste Gutmann. 
My great-grandmother bundled up in her 
furs standing on a frozen river Rhine. 
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 1.10 My grandmother Milly (Amalie) Gutmann, her brother Karl and her sister Anna. 
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.11 Milly and Anna Remembered. Milly and her sister Anna feature in a Mainz women´s 
calendar. Source: Frauenleben in Magenza, 2015.
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Fig. 1.12  Milly Gutmann. This photo was taken when my grandmother was around 18 years old and 
eight years before she married Walter Schwarz in 1920.  Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.13  Berthe Goetz (née Weinmann). 
Berthe and Milly were friends from the time they 
were both young women. I believe Berthe, who 
was older, was instrumental in introducing Milly  
to her husband-to-be Walter Schwarz.  
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 1.14  Walter Schwarz Silhouette Card. 
Walter sent this card to my grandmother Milly, 
his future wife, from Salzburg in July 1918. On 
the reverse he wrote a love note in Old German.
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.15  Wedding of Walter Schwarz and Milly Gutmann, 11 May 
1920. This picture of Milly in her wedding gown and Walter in 
morning dress was probably taken inside 32 Kaiserstrasse.  
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 1.16  Walter and Milly Schwarz (née Gutmann). Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.17  Outside 32 Kaiserstrasse, 1936. 
Milly’s children Anneliese (my mother) 
and Max Walter stand in the centre of 

the group on the pavement outside their 
grandmother Auguste’s house. Source: 

Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 1.18  Karl and Sonja Gutmann (née 
Herzfeld). From the mid-1930s, Milly’s 
brother Karl Gutmann worked for the 
Schwarz textile operation in Riga, Latvia, 
where he married Sonja Herzfeld in 
1936. She gave birth to their son Joe in 
1937. In 1939, Milly’s mother Auguste 
and her sister Anna Gutmann joined the 
growing community of German exiles 
there, believing they would be safe. Source: 
Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 1.19 Milly’s Passport. Issued in Berlin, March 1939. Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 1.20  Sent just before Christmas in 1940 and six months prior to the German invasion of Latvia, 
this telegram from Riga is the last communication my grandmother ever received from her sister 
Anna. Source:  Michael S. Phillips Archive.



Jews of Kaiserstrasse	 35

Fig. 1.21  Page of Testimony for Auguste Gutmann 
These documents filed by friends and relatives of victims of the Holocaust are held by Yad Vashem 
and are intended to restore the identities of those murdered and commemorate their lives, as well as 
stand as a symbolic tombstone. Source: Yad Vashem, Hall of Names.
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Fig. 1.22  32 Kaiserstrasse in 2018. Allied aerial bombing of Mainz 
in 1942 destroyed many of the buildings on Kaiserstrasse, including 
my grandmother’s childhood home at 32 Kaiserstrasse. This office 
block now stands on the site. Photo by Nixnubix via Wikipedia.org.

Fig. 1.23  Milly Schwarz and Alice Morreau 
(née Weinmann). This picture was probably 

taken in the early ‘70s. Lifelong friends, 
Milly (left) and Alice (right), the sister of 

Berthe Goetz, sit in the sunshine drinking 
tea in (I believe) Alice’s back garden in 

Guildford. Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Chapter 2. The Jews of Mainz
During the Second World War, huge swathes of Mainz were levelled 

or set ablaze during heavy bombing by the British Royal Air Force 

and the US Air Force in raids that targeted the city in earnest from 

August 1942. 10 Sitting on the left bank of the Rhine River, only 120 

or so kilometres from the modern-day border with France, the riv-

er port city’s many medieval buildings were damaged or destroyed 

during the war. Some still stand, concentrated around the cob-

ble-stoned market square and the 1,000-year old Roman Catholic 

St Martin’s Cathedral. 

	 The buildings on Kaiserstrasse, four and five-storey mansions 

facing onto a central park planted with trees, flowerbeds and lawns, 

splendid late 19th century properties adorned with pillars and por-

ticos, domes, mansard roofs and elaborate cornicing cherry-picked 

from neo-classical, baroque, renaissance or art deco designs, were 

also badly damaged or completely destroyed during Allied bomb-

ing. Of the houses that still stand today, many are now protected 

cultural monuments. 

	 The building in Petersstrasse where my grandmother and her sis-

ter attended school was also destroyed. The Höhere Mädchenschule 

(higher girls’ school) was founded in 1889. In 1938 it was renamed 

Frauenlobschule after the medieval lyricist and minstrel Heinrich 

von Meissen, known as Frauenlob, who died in Mainz in 1318 and 

is buried in the cloister of the cathedral. After the war, the school 

was moved to its new location in Adam-Karrillon-Strasse, where it 

remains to this day. Today’s Frauenlob-Gymnasium has male and 

female pupils. Its earlier importance as the place where many Jewish 

girls were educated is not obvious. There are only about 1,100 Jews 

currently living in Mainz out of a population of around 220,000. 11
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	 Mainz, now the capital of the federal state of Rhineland-Palat-

inate (Rheinland-Pfalz) in southwest Germany, has served as an 

important cultural centre for Christians and Jews. Johannes Guten-

berg, who invented printing with movable type and the printing 

press that revolutionised the production of printed books and pub-

lished the Gutenberg Bible, lived in Mainz in the 15th century. Less 

well known is the depth of Jewish history. 

	 By the advent of the Nazi regime, Jews had been living in the area 

for more than 1,000 years. 12 In fact, the Jewish community in Mainz 

was among the earliest documented living in central and Eastern 

Europe. With the nearby towns of Worms and Speyer, Mainz was a 

centre of rabbinical learning and Jewish life dating back to the 11th 

century. 13 Jews also lived in Frankfurt, just over 40 kilometres east, 

close by Darmstadt, and Wiesbaden to the north of Mainz. Jewish 

scholars from the Rhineland had a unique influence on the develop-

ment of Ashkenazi Judaism passing down legal decisions, traditions, 

rights and customs still adhered to today. 14 Among notable thinkers, 

Rabbi Gershom ben Judah (c. 960-1040), referred to as the Light of 

Exile and widely attributed to have authored among many signifi-

cant edicts the Jewish ban on polygamy, lived in Mainz. 15

	 Rabenu Solomon Yitzchaki (1040-1105), a Talmudic commen-

tator from Troyes in France, better known as Rashi, also studied 

and taught in Worms and Mainz. 16 He was instrumental in shaping 

rabbinical traditions of learning and his commentaries, notable for 

their clarity, are still in universal use today. (He also made a living 

selling wine). 

	 The Old Jewish cemetery (known as the Judensand) on Mom-

bacher Strasse—previously home to the oldest Jewish gravestone 

in central Europe, inscribed with the date 1049 (it nows sits in the 

Landesmuseum)—literally sets this legacy in stone. Over time, the 
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cemetery has been subject to desecration, damage and the removal 

of some of its headstones to use as masonry. However it still served 

as a burial ground until 1880 when the New Jewish Cemetery was 

opened on Untere Zahlbacher Strasse, next to the Mainz Central 

Cemetery. My grandmother’s father Ferdinand and his cousin Max 

Gutmann and his wife Rosalie are all buried there.

	 I mention this history not because my grandmother’s family 

were at all observant—that ended with earlier generations—but to 

highlight the reach of Jewish roots in the area. 

	 One of the most significant members of the Mainz Jewish com-

munity for the purposes of my research was Michel Oppenheim, a 

well-known local figure who compiled the Oppenheim Lists. 17 Born 

in 1885, Michel was the son of Ludwig Oppenheim, a Jewish lawyer 

from Mainz, and Elise Hopf, a Catholic from Nuremberg. The fam-

ily lived at 94 Kaiserstrasse. Michel married Erna von Zakrzewski, a 

Catholic, in 1921 and they had their only child Ludwig a year later.

	 After a career as a lawyer, a soldier for the duration of the First 

World War, and a civil servant at the Mainz District of the Provi-

sional Directorate Rheinhessen, where Michel was appointed to the 

Government Council responsible for matters related to the French 

occupation, he was forced to retire in 1934 for “racial reasons” out-

lined in the Nazi Law for the Restoration of the Civil Service. Around 

the same time, he and his wife sent their son to Switzerland for his 

own safety. 18

	 In March 1941, Oppenheim was forced to act as liaison between 

the Gestapo and the Reich Association of Jews in Germany, a Jewish 

organisation co-opted in 1939 to administer the elimination of the 

Jewish community and “Gentiles of Jewish Descent” in Germany. 19 

Its Special Referee for the Affairs of the Jews was Adolf Eichmann. 
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All individuals deemed Jewish by the Nazi regime (i.e. anyone of 

Jewish descent or faith; Gentiles with three or four Jewish grand-

parents; anyone with two Jewish grandparents who was married to a 

Jew) were forced to join the organisation, contribute fees to pay for 

its administration and wear a yellow star. 

	 As regular deportations of German Jews accelerated in October 

1941 to newly occupied countries in the east, Oppenheim’s grue-

some task was to draw up deportation lists, which he detailed in a 

secret journal. I have relied heavily on these lists in my research. 

	 Residents of Kaiserstrasse appear on the Oppenheim Lists, al-

though it is unlikely he documented everyone who fled, hid or were 

murdered. In my research, I discovered that more than a few of the 

older Jewish residents of Kaiserstrasse committed suicide prior to 

deportation, or they died in the Jewish hospital, probably helped 

along by the medical staff there. The timing of their deaths suggests 

they had prior knowledge they were listed on an upcoming trans-

port. I suspect Oppenheim warned individuals of their pending fate, 

but I have no way of proving that. Unlike many Jews forced to work 

for the Nazis, Oppenheim survived the war and became a city offi-

cial, helping spearhead the revival of the arts and the city’s cultural 

life and that of the university. He died in 1963.

Kaiserstrasse

My grandmother, who viewed herself as German, was born into 

a highly assimilated but tight-knit community that lived in close 

proximity to one another. I attribute the concentration of Jewish 

families on Kaiserstrasse and the surrounding streets to their wealth 

and the interrelatedness of those particular families and their com-

mercial ties. 
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	 Max Gutmann would have bought 32 Kaiserstrasse not long after 

it was built. Conceived as a boulevard, the street was constructed in 

the late 19th century as part of the city’s much needed expansion. 

Named after Kaiser Wilhelm I, and running for about a kilometre 

from the main train station at its south west end to the magnificent-

ly domed Protestant Christuskirche (completed in 1903) and the 

Rhine in the north east, it was intended to be a central thoroughfare 

connecting the old town with the new city (Neustadt) spreading out 

to the west. It remains a critical transportation route.

	 Although the house at 32 Kaiserstrasse where my grandmother 

lived was destroyed, the street holds unique importance to me as a 

place she loved. A modern feature is the number of stolpersteine, 

so-called ‘stumbling stones’, embedded in the pavement. 20 The small 

concrete bricks overlaid with brass serve as individual memorials 

to Jewish persons or families persecuted and exterminated by the 

Nazi regime. Each brass plaque is engraved with a name and dates of 

birth, deportation, death or escape—if known—and marks the indi-

vidual’s last residence of choice. There are three individual plaques 

outside number 32 commemorating my grandmother’s mother Au-

guste, her sister Anna, and brother Karl.
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Fig. 2.1  14 Kaiserstrasse: The house as it was in the early twentieth century. Source: Mainz City 
Archives, Reference BPSF/20389 A..
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Fig. 2.2  21 Kaiserstrasse. As of 1939 Nazi legislation ensured that Jews were no longer allowed 
to be property owners. Their houses were taken and often used as so-called ‘judenhäuser’ where 
members of the Jewish community from Mainz and surrounding villages were detained in crowded 
accommodations prior to deportation. The house had belonged to lawyer Paul Simon, who emigrated 
to the US in 1938 with his family. One of his tenants was Michel Oppenheim. Source: Mainz City 
Archives, Reference BPSF1893 A.

Fig. 2.3  28 Kaiserstrasse. Along 
with numbers 26 and 30, this 

building was home to the H. 
Sichel Söhne wine business and 

the extended Sichel family  
that ran it. Public domain,  

source: Unknown. 
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Fig. 2.4  35 Kaiserstrasse. Source: Mainz 
City Archives, Reference: BPSF/1547 B.

Fig. 2.6  Kaiserstrasse. Source: Mainz City Archives, Reference: BPSF/20386 A.

Fig. 2.5  71 Kaiserstrasse. Public domain. Source: 
Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 2.7  50 Kaiserstrasse (building in the middle), September 1899 postcard. Source: Mainz City 
Archives, Reference: BPSF/1892 A.

Fig. 2.8  52 Kaiserstrasse in 2007. Photographer: Symposiarch, via Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 2.9  80/82 Kaiserstrasse. Source: Mainz City Archives, 
Reference BPSF: 20387 A

Fig. 2.10  Christuskirche. Completed in 1903, the huge Protestant church stands at the northeast end 
of the street close to the Rhine. Public domain.via: Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 2.11  Looking Northeast toward the Rhine, from postcard, c.1908. Public domain.

Fig. 2.12  Höhere Mädchenschule, Petersstrasse, Mainz, 1929. The high school for girls Milly 
and Anna and many of their friends, family members and neighbours attended. Source: Mainzer 
Frauengeschichte. Courtesy of Mainz City Archives, Reference: BPSK/654.
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Fig. 2.13  Frauenlob-Gymnasium, Adam-Karrillon-Strasse, Mainz, 2018 
After 1945, the former boys’ school became the new location of the Höhere 
Mädchenschule. It is now a mixed school. Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 2.14  53 Kaiserstrasse in 2018. The plot was redeveloped following Allied 
bombing during the war. Photo by Nixnubix via Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 2.15  61 Kaiserstrasse. 
The house next door at No. 59 
has been rebuilt but would have 
originally been constructed in the 
same style. Source: Michael S. 
Phillips Archive.

Fig. 2.16 Michel Oppenheim.  
A trained lawyer, First World War veteran 

and former civil servant, Oppenheim 
was appointed as a liaison between 
the Gestapo and the Mainz Jewish 

community. His deportation lists, with 
copies compiled in secret, detailed 

the fate of its members and form the 
backbone of my research. 

Source: Genealogy.com, courtesy of 
Richard G. Simon.
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Chapter 3. Persecution
The history of Jews in Mainz (and elsewhere in Germany and Eu-

rope) is punctuated with anti-Semitic attacks, forced conversions, 

the imposition of special taxes, violence and murder. In the 11th and 

12th centuries Jewish people suffered Crusaders’ assaults, pogroms 

in the 13th century, expulsions in the 15th, and additional sanctions 

and restrictions under French rule in the 17th century. 21 Conversely, 

the occupation of Mainz at the end of the 18th century by French 

revolutionary troops brought with it freedoms for the Jewish com-

munity. Jews were allowed to open their own schools and the gates 

of the ghetto were removed. 22 Mainz, as the capital of the Départe-

ment du Mont Tonnerre, belonged to France from 1798 to 1814. The 

civil code decreed by Napoleon in 1804 finally granted equal civic 

status to the Jews of Mainz. 23

	 The rise of the Nazi movement in the 1920s and the actions of 

the regime throughout the 1930s reversed the assimilation of Ger-

man Jews. It impacted the Jewish residents of Kaiserstrasse in many 

ways. At a superficial level, the first section of the street, numbers 

1-15 and 2-20 on the other side, was renamed Horst-Wessel-Platz  

after a mythologised leader of a Berlin section of the Sturmabtei-

lung, the Nazi storm troopers, (a brown-shirted mob deployed to 

harass, intimidate and attack opponents). After Wessel’s murder in 

1930, Joseph Goebbels elevated him to a so-called Nazi martyr. 

	 In 1933, the new Chancellor Adolf Hitler declared a boycott of 

Jewish-owned businesses, dealing a devastating blow to the econom-

ic health and social status of Jewish families. 24 The Nuremberg race 

laws were decreed September 1935 and implemented the following 

summer. Among provisions, the legislation stripped Jews of their 

right to citizenship and the protections that carried, and banned 

Jews and non-Jews from marrying. 25 The pogroms of Kristallnacht 
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on 9-10 November 1938 carried out by paramilitaries and local 

mobs, the failure of the local authorities to intervene, and the ar-

rest of Jewish men that followed, ramped up the persecution of Jews 

across Germany. 26 

	 For some Jewish residents of Kaiserstrasse, like my grand-

mother’s mother Auguste and sister Anny, the writing was on the 

wall. (Brother Karl had already left in 1933 for Riga). By the time the 

Second World War began, the number of Jewish residents in Mainz 

had dwindled to around 1,500 from 2,730 in 1933. 27 

	 At the Wannsee Conference on 20 January 1942, where senior Nazi 

government officials and the SS leadership consolidated plans—al-

ready in motion—to rid Germany and Nazi-occupied Europe of its 

Jewish population through mass deportation and extermination, 

SS-Obergruppenführer Reinhard Heydrich reported that between 

1933 and October 1941 more than half a million German, Austrian 

and Czech Jews had emigrated. 28 Those that were left were subjected 

to systematic murder. 29

	 Writing with the benefit of hindsight, some of Kaiserstrasse’s 

Jewish residents missed their chance to escape by a hair’s breadth. 

Some were too old, lacked funds, or exit permits, or were perhaps 

in denial about just how murderous the persecution of Jews had be-

come and refused to leave their homes. Others were betrayed by 

those they should have been able to trust. 

	 Carl Theodor Frank, a wealthy timber merchant, who owned 94 

Kaiserstrasse, 30 (where his stolperstein is laid) was born in Worms in 

1858. He was an old man when the war began. His wife Mathilde had 

died in 1933 and his three children, William Gustav (b. 1885), Rudolf 

(b. 1886), and Hildegard Martha (b. 1901) had fled Germany. William 

Frank, a doctor, settled in the US with his family. Rudolf survived 



52	 Jews of Kaiserstrasse

in Switzerland, while his daughter and her husband were registered 

living in London in the 1960s. Frank lived alone in an apartment oc-

cupying the first floor of the house. The other floors of the building 

had been converted into flats and rented out to tenants. With an eye 

to purchasing the building at a discounted price, after Kristallnacht, 

one of his tenants informed the Gestapo that Carl was Jewish. Carl 

remained living in his flat—presumably paying rent—for some time. 

Finally he was forced to move to 25 Breidenbacherstrasse, a crowd-

ed home for elderly Jews. From there, blind and in his eighties, he 

was deported to Theresienstadt, a transit camp-ghetto in northwest 

Czechoslovakia. 31 

	 Many Kaiserstrasse residents experienced the deprivations of 

Theresienstadt. 32 The camp opened in November 1941 as a detention 

centre for Czech Jews pending deportation to forced-labour or con-

centration camps elsewhere in Nazi-occupied Europe. It also held 

Austrian, Czech and German Jews, who were selected on the basis 

of their age, past military service and how well they were known 

in the arts and cultural life of their countries of origin. 33 Given the 

talents of the detainees, the camp had a rich cultural scene. The re-

gime presented the camp as a model of Jewish life under the Third 

Reich, lying to the international community to obscure the reality 

of disease, overcrowding and malnutrition. Carl starved to death in 

an attic room. 34

The Ladenburg Brothers

Others missed their escape by cruel interference. The Ladenburg 

brothers were such a case, according to research conducted by 

Renate Knigge-Tesche. 35 Karl Moritz Ladenburg (b. 1895) and his 

brother Siegfried Ladenburg (b. 1899) grew up on Kaiserstrasse. 

Their father, Zacharias Ladenburg (1845-1933) was a real estate and 
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mortgage broker, who had inherited his business, Moritz Ladenburg 

& Son, from his father. 36 Zacharias and his wife Flora and their two 

sons must have been among the first families to live on Kaiserstrasse, 

occupying number 11 from 1894. For a while before the First World 

War, the business was based out of 18 Kaiserstrasse before it moved 

to number 11 and remained there. 

	 The boys’ mother died when they were young children (seven 

and three) and their father brought them up. 37 Both fought in the 

First World War and Karl was awarded the Hessian Medal for Brav-

ery. In the 1920s, they joined their father in business.

	 Karl, a qualified lawyer who did not practise, was active in lo-

cal Jewish life, and one of the founders of the Association for the 

Care of Jewish Antiquities, which in 1925 contributed exhibits to the 

Jewish section of the Millennium Exhibition on Rhineland-German 

Culture, according to Knigge-Tesche. 38

	 A year later, the association founded the Museum of Jewish An-

tiquities in an annexe of the new synagogue that opened in 1912 on 

Hindenburgstrasse, a main street perpendicular to Kaiserstrasse, 

running west.

	 Upon their father’s death in 1933, the Ladenburg brothers took 

ownership of the business. 39 It was not a propitious time. To a re-

gime set on appropriating Jewish property, including houses and 

precious goods, as well as businesses and bank accounts, the Laden-

burg brothers would have been tempting targets for a kleptocratic 

regime. 

	 After Kristallnacht, from 11 November until 17 December 1938, 

Karl was arrested and held in Buchenwald concentration camp. Af-

ter his release, both brothers were kept under surveillance. They 

were detained a year later from 11 August to 4 November for alleged 

“foreign exchange offences”. They were not convicted but they were 
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subject to a security order that denied them free access to their bank 

accounts. They had to apply for expenses, including the money to 

emigrate. It was not granted. 40

	 In April 1941, Karl and Siegfried were forced to sell 11 Kaiser-

strasse to raise the finances for their journey. However, the Reich 

retained the funds and instead they were compelled to apply again 

for money to pay rent on the property they formerly owned. 41 They 

were forcibly moved a year later to 58 Adam-Karrillon-Strasse (par-

allel to Kaiserstrasse), to a formerly Jewish-owned property that had 

been commandeered as a so-called judenhaus, 42 a building where 

Jews were rehoused, isolated from the broader community, and of-

ten under curfew. These houses evolved from mini-ghettos, which 

segregated Jews from ‘Aryans’, to staging posts prior to deportation 

to the death camps. The brothers shared a room together, and a 

kitchen with eight other people. 

	 In March 1942 they tried to flee, having unofficially learned that 

they were on the list for the 25 March transport to Piaski. They were 

arrested in Cologne, however. Both were taken to Frankfurt po-

lice prison and put under ‘protective custody’ (Schutzhaft) by the 

Darmstadt Gestapo. While they were detained, their room in the 

judenhaus was cleared, writes Knigge-Tesche. Her research has a 

predictably wretched conclusion. In July, the brothers were trans-

ferred to Buchenwald concentration camp, where Siegfried was shot 

weeks later, allegedly trying to escape, and Karl died in October of 

‘flu’(!), according to records. Their graves can be found in the New 

Jewish Cemetery. 43

The Haas Family 

For Alfred Haas, born in Mainz in 1892, and his family, time ran out. 

An internist and specialist in nervous conditions, Alfred’s medical 
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licence (issued in 1917) was revoked in 1938. Since 1933, Jewish peo-

ple of all ages and in all professions had been subject to increasingly 

punitive anti-Jewish legislation, including limiting the number of 

Jewish pupils in public schools prior to their outright expulsion in 

1938; excluding Jewish administrators from the civil service; pre-

venting Jews from approaching the bar; and banning Jews from 

editorial positions and working as tax accountants, veterinarians, 

public school teachers and midwives and from serving in the army. 

Indicative of the invasive scrutiny and arbitrary cruelty the com-

munity endured, by the end of 1938, Jews were banned even from 

owning carrier pigeons. 44

	 In October of the same year, the Reich government issued legis-

lation requiring Jews to hand in their passports to be stamped with 

the letter ‘J’ or be rendered invalid. A month later, the Reich official-

ly closed all Jewish owned businesses and passed new laws to restrict 

the movement of Jews. 45 

	 In 1938, Alfred sought transit visas from the Belgium Consulate 

in Cologne for himself and his wife Irma (b. 1911) with the goal of 

emigrating to the US via Belgium. They did not make it out. In July 

1939, Alfred and Irma had a son Gerson. They were still living at 

their family home at 20 Kaiserstrasse where Dr. Haas also had his 

medical practice. By 1941, they had been moved to 21 Kaiserstrasse, 

a judenhaus. They were allocated two rooms and shared a kitchen 

with Berthe and Jenny Schönberger and Berthe Bamberger, who 

were all to commit suicide in the face of deportation. A year later, 

the Haas family was moved to the Jewish home for the elderly on 

Gonsenheimer Strasse, most likely because Dr. Haas suffered from 

multiple sclerosis and could hardly walk. Such places served as gath-

ering points prior to deportation. Alfred was 50 years old, his wife 

was 33, and their son just three. From there the family was taken to 
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Theresienstadt. Alfred was dead by the end of the year. Irma and 

Gerson managed to survive for a further 18 months before they were 

killed at Auschwitz.

	 Irma’s parents, Louis and Johanna Hartogs, did succeed in obtain-

ing a temporary Belgian residency permit and fled to Borgerhout 

near Antwerp en route to the US. However, the German invasion 

of Belgium in May 1940 put an end to their plans. They moved lo-

cations twice, to Antwerp and then to Kwaadmechelen, before they 

were detained and sent in September 1942 to Mechelen transit camp 

in Belgium. The camp was established in a former barracks. For the 

Nazis, Mechelen was ideally situated between Antwerp and Brus-

sels, two cities with sizeable Jewish populations, and offered good 

rail connections. 46 From there, Louis and Johanna were deported to 

Auschwitz where they were murdered. He was 72; she was 57. Rather 

than a place of sanctuary, Belgium had been a trap.

	 Their son Renatus (b. 1909 in Mainz), Irma’s brother, was luckier. 

He had studied medicine in Brussels, practised in Belgium and mar-

ried a Belgian woman from Antwerp, Nelly Gutwirth. They escaped 

to Lisbon via Bordeaux where the Portuguese consul issued them an 

entry visa. From Portugal, they travelled to the US, where he was to 

become a psychologist. He died in 1998.

Missed Chances

Another Kaiserstrasse resident, Hildegard Heymann (b. 1904), who 

lived at number 29, had a relative in the US who was prepared to pay 

for her travel costs. It was too late, however, for her to take advantage 

of this help. The Nazi regime closed the doors on Jewish emigra-

tion in October 1941. According to the Mainz deportation lists and 

the German Gedenkbuch, Hildegard was taken with around 1,000 

Jews from Southern Hesse, including 470 from Mainz, loaded on to 
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train Da 14 on 25 March 1942 at Darmstadt—the main deportation 

assembly point for this transport—and sent to the Piaski ghetto in 

German-occupied Poland. 47 

	 According to the Yad Vashem archives, in Mainz, Jewish deport-

ees were rounded up from either the judenhaus where they had been 

detained, or brought from their houses or nearby towns, to the Feld-

berg School gym and then onto the freight station at Mombacher 

Strasse. The deportation ramp stood a few hundred metres from the 

main station at the top of Kaiserstrasse and opposite the Old Jewish 

Cemetery. They were required to bring with them 50 Reichsmarks, 

a suitcase, and a set of clothes, food for two weeks, bedding and  

tableware, and a list of their assets. 48 Their identification papers 

were taken and they were forced to wear a cardboard sign around 

their neck showing their name, date of birth and deportation num-

ber as they were shunted up the ramp. Upon arrival in Poland at 

Trawniki train station days later, they were marched 12 kilometres to  

Piaski where they took over accommodation vacated by local Jews 

who had been sent to Belzec extermination camp. 49

	 Hildegard died in Piaski in December 1942. The ghetto was liq-

uidated the following spring. In a grim example of the mechanics 

of Nazi bureaucracy, the relative who had paid for her passage was 

refunded their money.

	 Maximilian Franz Carlebach (b. 1883 and known as Franz), a 

Mainz lawyer, also just missed his chance. He lived at 31 Kaiserstrasse, 

a handsome redbrick, five-storey building on a corner in the middle 

of the street, which was commandeered as Gestapo headquarters. 

According to documents dated 1934, the building was owned by the 

Goldschmidt family and divided into four flats.



58	 Jews of Kaiserstrasse

	 Franz’s first cousin Herbert Carlebach lived in New York and 

paid for Franz’s passage to the US, but it was too late. By then, it is 

likely that Franz was already detained in the Sachsenhausen concen-

tration camp near Berlin, where he died in March 1942. 

	 Franz had converted to Christianity in 1906, but this made no 

difference under the fastidious implementation of the Law for the 

Protection of German Blood and Honour, passed in 1935, that de-

tailed who was eligible for Reich citizenship. 50 The law established 

convoluted criteria for determining an individual’s race under the 

categories of ‘German-blooded’, first degree mixed race (‘misch-

linge’), second degree mixed race, and Jew. 51 The regime returned 

Herbert’s money in 1944. 

The Mayers

Bernhard Albert Mayer (b. 1866), arguably one of the most promi-

nent members of the Jewish community prior to the Second World 

War, and his wife Adele Deborah (b. 1873, née Trier) escaped by the 

skin of their teeth. They lived at number 49 and are one of many 

Mayer families with a connection to Kaiserstrasse. Other members 

of the family lived at number 53, where the family business was 

based.

	 Mayer was a very common Jewish surname in Mainz before 

the war and can be traced back to Martin Mayer, who was born in 

Ichenhausen in 1762 and arrived in Mainz in 1794 where he married 

Rosalie Coma. Martin and Rosalie were the grandparents of Rosalie 

Gutmann (née Mayer), the wife of Max Gutmann, the founder of the 

Max Gutmann wine merchants of 32 Kaiserstrasse.

	 Bernhard Albert was descended from a different strand. From 

Dr. Hedwig Brüchert’s contribution to the book Der Neue Jüdische  

Friedhof in Mainz 52 (The New Jewish Cemetery in Mainz) I learned 
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that Bernhard Albert’s father Martin (b. 1838, and named after his 

grandfather) was key to raising the family’s social and financial sta-

tus and establishing their presence on Kaiserstrasse. Dr. Brüchert is 

responsible for unearthing much of the information that follows.

	 Prior to Martin’s marriage to Rosalie Altschüler in 1865, he 

founded a jewellery business with his younger brother Bernard 

Albert. 53 The Martin Mayer workshops made luxury pieces of real 

silver often set with semi-precious stones. As the business expand-

ed it established new factories, took on new investors and Martin’s 

sons Bernhard Albert and Eduard became co-owners. The business 

moved premises at the end of the 19th century to 53 Kaiserstrasse, 

where Martin also lived. As it continued to grow, they set up a branch 

in Pforzheim, a city known for its jewellery and watchmaking. 54 

	 Martin also played an important role in the community’s re-

ligious life. The Judaica collection of the Landesmuseum Mainz 

displays a Torah crown made of gilded silver that the Martin Mayer 

workshop produced and which was donated to his congregation in 

1898. 55 A year after his brother Bernard Albert died (1903) Martin 

passed away and the business passed into the hands of Martin’s son 

Bernhard Albert, who took charge with the support of his cousins 

Albert and Ernst, the sons of his uncle Bernard. His brother Eduard 

had died five years before.

	 Bernhard Albert lived at 49 Kaiserstrasse—just down the street 

from the business premises—with his wife Adele Debora from 

Darmstadt and their four children. In 1934, silver production moved 

entirely to Pforzheim, supervised by Bernhard Albert’s youngest son 

Martin Wilhelm, who was 20 years old. 56 

	 Following in his father’s footsteps, Bernhard Albert also played 

a prominent role in public life, serving on the Mainz City Council 
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from 1911-1918 and again from 1926-1929, and was given the hon-

orary title of ‘Kommerzienrat’ or councillor of commerce. He was 

also a leader of the Gesamtgemeinde, the Israelite Religious Com-

munity 57, an organisation that Brüchert says was set up to represent 

both Orthodox and Reform Jews as one community when dealing 

with the state, although the congregation had split in the 19th centu-

ry and worshipped in different synagogues with different rabbis. In 

1904, he was elected to the Community’s executive committee and 

then as president in 1908, a position he held until he emigrated in 

1941. 58 

	 During this time, Bernhard Albert would have enjoyed the priv-

ileges of a wealthy and well-respected Mainz businessman with 

connections to prominent local Jewish religious figures such as Rab-

bi Professor Sigmund Salfeld and his successor Rabbi Dr Sali Levi, a 

veteran of the First World War and an active participant in preserv-

ing Mainz’s Jewish cultural heritage. He served as chairman of the 

Association for the Care of Jewish Antiquities in Mainz. 

	 The opening in 1912 of the new main synagogue was a milestone 

for Reform Jews in Mainz. The beautiful domed building construct-

ed on the corner of Hindenburgstrasse and Josefsstrasse comprised 

two wings, community rooms, a wedding hall and—from 1926—the 

Museum of Jewish Antiquities. It was intended to serve the needs of 

members of the liberal Jewish community who had left their histor-

ical quarter in the old city and moved west, as the city grew, to new 

accommodations. Its inauguration was a grand event attended by 

the leaders of the state and city authorities as well as the clergy. Sig-

nifying both his secular and religious influence, upon the opening, 

Bernhard Albert was awarded the Knight’s Cross I Class of the Grand 

Ducal Hessian Order of Philip the Magnanimous. 59
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	 However, in the 1930s the synagogue took on a new role, pro-

viding space for the Jewish District School that moved in as Jewish 

children were excluded from public schools and it hosted a soup 

kitchen to feed the needy. When the synagogue was set on fire and 

precious sacred objects were looted during Kristallnacht, 72-year old 

Bernhard Albert and fellow members of the congregation suffered 

a blow (to say the least). The remains of this grand building were 

destroyed days later. The Orthodox synagogue on the corner of Vor-

dere Synagogenstrasse and Margarethengasse in the centre of the 

old Jewish quarter, which had operated as a house of prayer since 

the 1850s, was also destroyed. 

	 The Israelite Religious Community, which offered both spiritu-

al and practical support to Jews during this increasingly dangerous 

time, moved into a house at 2 Horst-Wessel-Strasse arranging class-

rooms on the ground floor and a meeting room above where Rabbi 

Sali Levi continued to hold services. 60 The Community helped Mainz 

Jews navigate increasingly complex anti-Jewish bureaucracy, which 

carried fatal penalties for submitting incorrect information, and to 

simply survive. It established an office to issue food vouchers and 

clothes, and opened a shoe repair workshop. 

	 In 1938, the county health department confiscated the medical 

equipment at the Jewish hospital, where Jewish doctors and nurs-

es were permitted to treat Jewish patients exclusively. The facility 

evolved into a home for the elderly and sick. Another Jewish old 

people’s home had been established at the former Scharff sana-

torium in Mainz-Gonsenheim in the spring of 1939. Rather than 

comfortable places for residents to see out their days, these homes 

were to evolve into deportation centres.

	 In 1938, the Martin Mayer silverware operations in Pforzheim 

were appropriated by George Lauer AG. 61 Bernhard Albert and his 
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wife Adele (who was a distant cousin of my great grandmother’s) 

prepared to leave. By this time they are registered at number 53. 

Their eldest son Karl Jakob (b. 1894), who had taken on his maternal 

grandfather’s iron wholesaler business, Gebrüder Trier in Darm-

stadt, before he emigrated to Argentina in 1938, arranged visas for 

his parents. In March 1941, they made their way to Berlin, the only 

place from which Jews were allowed to exit. I could not find records 

confirming their port of departure, but they sailed to safety in Bue-

nos Aires. 

	 They were the final members of their family to escape. Their 

second son Ernst Bernhard (b. 1896), who worked with his brother 

Karl, had emigrated with his family to the US. Prior to the start of 

the war, their daughter Elisabeth Dora (b. 1900) sent her two chil-

dren to the UK on the Kindertransport, 62 and hid with her husband 

Hans Gebhardt in the Netherlands in various locations. Miraculous-

ly, they survived the war. Bernhard Albert and Adele’s youngest son 

Martin Wilhelm fled to England in 1938, via the Netherlands. 63 

	 Adele died in Buenos Aires in 1945 aged 72, followed by her hus-

band two years later. Bernhard Albert was 81. They were safe but 

exiled from a home where they had lived for most of their long lives.

Frohwein Brothers

The Jewish community in Mainz during the 1930s was changing size 

and shape as people left seeking sanctuary overseas, while others ar-

rived from the countryside and surrounding area, deeming it safer 

to be part of a larger community, or were forced from their homes. 

Later, Jews from nearby towns and villages would be corralled into 

judenhäuser in Mainz pending deportation. Families too were in 

flux.
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	 The Frohweins were a family of butchers from Hochheim, a town 

15 kilometres from Mainz. By 1936, three of the brothers, Joseph 

Friedrich (b. 1893), known as Fritz, Siegbert, known as Siegfried (b. 

1891) and Benjamin Walter (b. 1903), known as Walter, had moved to 

Mainz. 

	 Their older brother Julius Jakob Zvi (b. 1890) had been killed 

in the First World War. Middle brother Jehuda Ludwig (b. 1887) 

and younger brother Ernst (b. 1906) appear to have remained in 

Hochheim before they left for the UK and settled with their father 

Salomon Frohwein (b. 1863) in London. Their mother Helene (1863-

1927) was already dead. Ludwig died in London in 1942 followed by 

his father two years later.

	 In 1936, Walter left for Belgium and Friedrich for England, with 

his family.  Their sister Eva (Chava) Hertha Kaufmann (b. 1895, née 

Frohwein) escaped to the US and lived in New York. She died in Cin-

cinnati in December 1973. However, Friedrich and Siegfried were 

still registered at 12 Horst-Wessel-Platz (12 Kaiserstrasse) in 1938.

	 Siegfried fled Germany in 1941, sponsored by a relative, Hans 

Frohwein, who had made it to Bogotá in Colombia. Hans paid for 

Siegfried’s passage and he left on the SS Tenerife in November 1941. 

His wife Erna (b. 1898, née Guggenheim) and their daughter Ellen (b. 

1933) appear to have tried to escape via Belgium, where they were 

arrested and imprisoned at Mechelen transit camp near Antwerp 

before they were deported to Auschwitz in 1942 and murdered.

	 Siegfried joined his sister Herta in New York, where he was still 

living in 1950 when he applied to be naturalised. But he did not live 

out his days there. He died in 1971 in Ireland where he had moved to 

run a cattle business that supplied meat to his brothers Walter, Frie-

drich and Ernst who all continued to work as butchers in London. 

They died there in 1958, 1968, and 1996 respectively.
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Fig. 3.1  Nuremberg Race Chart. The chart demonstrates the racial categories described in the 
Nuremberg laws passed in 1935. These classifications determined access to employment, finances, 
public transport and other public spaces, housing, rations, healthcare and ultimately a person’s right 
to exist. Public domain. Source: Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 3.2  Carl Theodor Frank, c. 1900; sons Rudolf and William, c.1894. Courtesy of Lisa 
Wasserman Weissberg.

Fig. 3.3  Carl Theodor Frank Kennkarte. Kennkarten (civilian identity cards) were 
introduced in 1938. Those issued to Jews were printed on grey linen paper and 
marked by a red capital J. Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of 
the Jews in Germany.  The examples in this book are copies, most likely retained by 
the Mainz police, while the holder kept the original. How these cards managed to 
survive the war is unclear, and their existence is exceptional.
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Fig. 3. 4. 94 Kaiserstrasse today (the original building was destroyed in the war) 
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 3.5  Carl Theodor Frank 
Stolperstein, 94 Kaiserstrassse. 
The memorial plaque embedded 
in the pavement notes Carl´s 
name, date of birth, when and 
where he was deported and his 
date of death. Source: Michael S. 
Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 3.6  Museum of Jewish Antiquities c. 1929. Source: GDKE RLP, Landesmuseum Mainz (U. 
Rudischer).

Fig. 3.7  Stolpersteine for Karl Moritz and Siegfried Ladenburg, 11 Kaiserstrasse. Photo by Nixnubix 
via: Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 3.8.  Gerson Haas Kennkarte.  
There is no picture of Gerson on the card, probably because he was only two when 
it was issued. He was murdered at Auschwitz with his mother Irma (neé Hartogs). 
She died in 1944. By then, the child’s father Dr Alfred Haas was already dead. He 
was murdered at Theresienstadt in 1942. Source: Central Archive for the Study of the 
History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 3.9  Haas family stolpersteine, 20 Kaiserstrasse. Photo by Nixnubix via Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 3.10  20 Kaiserstrasse. 
This end of the street closest to 
the railway station was renamed 
Horst-Wessel-Platz in the 1930s 
after a Berlin leader of the Nazi 
Stormtroopers who was killed in 1930 
and reimagined as a Nazi martyr.   
The original pre-war building was 
divided into flats and was the home of 
the Haas family. Dr. Alfred Haas also 
had his medical practice here before 
his licence was revoked in 1938. 
Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.

Fig. 3.11  Bernhard Albert Mayer (b. 1866). Courtesy of Helen 
Mayer. 
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Fig. 3.12  49 Kaiserstrasse 
in 2012, former home of 
the Bernhard Mayer family. 
Bernhard Mayer specified 
these architectural details. The 
cartouche is a floor mosaic. 
Courtesy of Helen Mayer.

Fig. 3.13  2 Bauhofstrasse in 
2012; the location of one of 

Bernhard Mayer’s jewelry stores. 
Courtesy of Helen Mayer.
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Fig. 3.14  Gestapo Headquarters. 
The corner house at 31 
Kaiserstrasse was infamous during 
the Nazi era. Source: Michael S. 
Phillips Archive.

Fig. 3.15  Memorial at 31 Kaiserstrasse. Source: Michael S. Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 3.16  First two pages of a letter to HIAS-ICA Emigration Association in Bogotá about the arrival 
of 147 German Jews, among them Siegbert and Estella Frohwein. Courtesy of the American Jewish 
Joint Distribution Committee Archives.
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Fig. 3.17  American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, Jewish Transmigration Bureau Deposit Card 
for Siegbert Frohwein. The JDC’s Transmigration Bureau helped Jews to emigrate from Europe by 
accepting funds from friends or family already abroad to pay for the travel costs of the individual 
seeking to leave. Source: American Joint Distribution Committee Archives and the Leo Baeck Institute.

Fig. 3.18  US Army Draft Registration Card for Siegbert Frohwein.  
Source: Ancestry.com.
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Fig. 3.19  Early proof. Commemorative engraving of the Reform Synagogue by Hans 
Kohl, c.1920-1934. The synagogue was built in 1912, destroyed in Kristallnacht, 9-10 
November 1938. The portraits are of Rabbi Sali Levi, installed 1919, and Bernhard Mayer, 
Congregation President. Courtesy of the Leo Baeck Institute.

Fig. 3.20  The synagogue’s Moorish-style sanctuary, c.1918-1935. Courtesy of the Leo 
Baeck Institute.
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Fig. 3.22  Rabbi Dr. Sali Levi Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 3.21  Torah crown donated 
to the congregation by Martin 
Mayer’s workshop in 1898.  
Source: GDKE RLP, Landesmuseum 
Mainz (U. Rudischer).
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Chapter 4. Judenhäuser
After the war began, the situation for Jews remaining in Mainz grew 

even more perilous. Trapped, isolated and at risk, some managed 

to remain in their own homes, while others had been coerced into 

living in cramped shared accommodation with other Jews in a so-

called judenhaus, or confined to the exclusively Jewish hospital, or 

one of the homes for elderly Jews. 

	 My grandmother’s uncle Paul Mayer (b. 1871) was in his late six-

ties when the war began. A former banker and shareholder in the 

Max Gutmann wine business, he was moved to a judenhaus at 13 

Adam-Karrillon-Strasse, where he was, I believe, deprived of food 

and medical care, as well as his property and dignity. Since 1938, he 

had also been forced, like all Jewish men without readily identifiable 

Jewish names, to add the first name Israel on his identity card (wom-

en were forced to take the name Sara), and carry identity papers 

stamped with a large red J. 64 

	 Prior to Paul’s death, he was moved to the Jewish Hospital at 11 

Gonsenheimer Strasse where conditions were appalling. He died in 

1941 of undocumented causes. Max and Rosalie Gutmann’s eighth 

child Jenny Saarbach (b. 1863), who married into the family of Max’s 

former business partner Eduard, had died in the same Jewish hos-

pital the summer before. She was 77. Her sister Emma (b. 1858), who 

lived at 27 Kaiserstrasse, had already committed suicide in April 

1939 by poisoning. I attribute the deaths of all these elderly people 

to the treatment they received under the Nazi regime that had made 

life intolerable for German Jews. 

	 Anti-Jewish legislation became increasingly punitive. From Sep-

tember 1941, Jews were banned from public transport and any Jew 

aged six years and above was forced to wear a yellow star on their 
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outer clothing. Judenhäuser, like 13 Adam-Karrillon-Strasse, prolif-

erated. There was another on the same street at number 54, where 

more than 40 people were barracked, and at 17 Walpodenstrasse, 25 

Breidenbacherstrasse, 19, 21 and 28 Margaretengasse, 4 Frauenlob-

strasse and 45 Taunusstrasse. 65 

	 Number 32 Kaiserstrasse, where my grandmother spent her 

childhood, was also to become a judenhaus with a compulsory black 

Star of David displayed on the front door. The building stood in 

convenient proximity to the Gestapo HQ at number 31 from where 

the residents I am sure were kept under strict surveillance and con-

trol. 

	 I am not certain what action my grandmother’s mother Auguste 

took from her house prior to her departure in early 1939, or how 

it came to be a judenhaus. I only discovered that fact during my 

research. But as of April 1938 all Jews had to report what property 

they owned and also any assets worth more than 5,000 Reichmarks. 

By the end of that year, the Decree on the Confiscation of Jewish 

Property was issued to formalise the transfer of Jewish assets to 

non-Jews. 66 She probably shared the fate of other Jewish homeown-

ers who remained living in houses stolen from them and forced to 

pay rent. I suspect her departure in 1939 meant the building’s new 

non-Jewish or ‘Aryan’ landlords met no resistance as they took over 

number 32. The building was already set up for multiple occupancy 

having housed French officers on the upper floors after the First 

World War.

	 I do know that the Bockmann and Loeb families were living at 

32 Kaiserstrasse prior to their deportation in March 1942. Arthur 

Bockmann (b. 1892), a wine merchant from Oppenheim, and his 

wife Martha (b. 1888, née Mann) and his sisters Rosalie (b.1886) and 

Johanna (b. 1883) and her son Robert Loeb (b. 1907) and his wife 
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Betty (b. 1906, née Epstein) and their son Werner Ludwig (b. 1931) 

were registered there. As Jews with connections to the wine trade, I 

believe the family was known to mine. 

	 By 1942 Jews were also prohibited from entering certain areas in 

German cities, including particular shops and other public spaces, 

and had to contend with reduced rations once rationing began. 67 For 

Jews in Mainz, this was the year mass deportations started. 68  The 

Bockmanns and Loebs were—like Hildegard Heymann—on the first 

of the three major transports of Mainz Jews: the Da 14 train carrying 

470 Mainz Jews bound for Trawniki in Poland, the nearest station to 

the Piaski ghetto, that left Darmstadt on 25 March 1942. 

	 Johanna Loeb’s husband Hugo Loeb (b. 1882) was spared the hor-

rific fate of Piaski, having died of diabetes and calcification of his 

blood vessels in Mainz in February 1942. He is buried in the New 

Jewish Cemetery. Arthur and Martha Bockmann’s only daughter 

Ruth (b. 1920) survived having fled to England in 1939 from where 

she travelled on to the US. In September 1940 she arrived in New 

York and made her way to Argentina. She died in Vermont in 1996.

	 Many of their Jewish neighbours from Kaiserstrasse were also 

herded onto the Da 14 train. These included Dr Walter Nathan (b. 

1889), his wife Elisabeth (b. 1897, née August), Hans Daniel Nathan (b. 

1936) and Lotte Emma Nathan (b. 1932), who were forced to reside at 

the judenhaus at number 21.  

	 21 Kaiserstrasse was also the address where Rabbi Dr. Sali Levi (b. 

1883) and his wife Margarete (b. 1886, née Weissmann), were housed 

before they fled to Berlin in 1941 hoping to obtain a visa for entry 

into the United States. Levi, undoubtedly under significant strain, 

suffered a heart attack before he could depart and died in April 1941. 

Margarete made it to the US where she died in 1960.
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	 Adolf Kahn (b. 1864) had resided there before he was transferred 

to the Jewish Hospital, where he died in May 1941, perhaps assisted 

by the staff. 

	 Number 32 and 21 served as holding pens as the deportations 

gathered speed. Emil Julius Seligmann (b. 1866) from Oppenheim 

and his wife Margarete (b. 1874, née Heil), known as Grete, were 

housed at 32 Kaiserstrasse until they were deported to Theresien-

stadt, where Emil died in December 1942 and his wife the following 

May. They were on the second of the mass transportations from 

Mainz. The train left Darmstadt on 27 September 1942 destined for 

Terezin station, close to Theresienstadt. 69 About 1,300 people from 

Hesse were crammed aboard, among them 453 from Mainz. 70

	 The mass deportation to Theresienstadt was followed by the 

third major transport of Mainz Jews eastward that occurred just days 

later. This time, on 30 September, almost 900 people from Hessia 

were (probably) taken to the Treblinka extermination camp north 

east of Warsaw, in Poland. 71 Irma Kahn (b. 1998, née Kahn) and her 

husband Dr. Fritz Kahn (b. 1901), who had lived at number 21 Kaiser-

strasse, were deported from 54 Adam-Karrillon-Strasse, one of the 

judenhäuser, with their son Erich (b. 1929). They are likely to have 

been murdered at Treblinka soon after their arrival.

Transit

Unknown to me prior to having started researching the Jewish res-

idents of Kaiserstrasse before and during the War, the acclaimed 

German novelist, writer and activist Anna Seghers (b. 1900 as Netty 

Reiling), and her parents Isidor (b.1867) and Hedwig Reiling (b. 1880, 

née Fuld) lived at 34 Kaiserstrasse, next door to my grandmother’s 

childhood home. 72 Milly and Netty were only six years apart in age 

and Netty was the same age as my grandmother’s sister Anna. I do 
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not know if the Gutmanns and Reilings knew each other but it would 

seem odd, given the intertwined nature of the Jewish households on 

that street, if they did not.

	 Isidor and his elder brother Hermann Reiling (b. 1862) were part-

ners in an art and antique dealing business. 73 Netty was brought up 

in an Orthodox household. She studied at the University of Hei-

delberg from 1920 until 1924, where she obtained a doctorate in 

art history, met Ladislaus Rádványi (1900–1978), a Hungarian Jew, 

communist and her future husband, and began writing fiction. 74 By 

the time she joined the German Communist Party in 1928, she had 

two children. The family left Germany a few years later, heading 

first for Zürich and then Paris in 1933. 75 Upon the Nazi occupation 

of northern France, the family emigrated again, this time eventu-

ally landing in Mexico having been denied entry into the US. From 

there she organised a visa for her mother but it was too late. 76

	 Isidor and Hedwig (known as Heddy) had moved from 34 Kai-

serstrasse around 1933 and were living at 23 Fischtorplatz in Mainz. 

Prior to deportation on the 25 March 1942 train to Piaski, Hedwig 

was registered at 31 Taunusstrasse. She did not survive. By this time, 

Isidor was dead, having passed away in the Jewish Hospital in March 

1940. His brother Hermann and his wife Flora (b. 1869, née Rosen-

thal) were confined to a room at 53 Kaiserstrasse at some point I 

believe after 1939 and were moved again, this time to 32 Kaiserstrasse. 

Hermann died on 30 March 1942 in Mainz. Flora was deported to 

Theresienstadt on 27 September that year. She died there in Febru-

ary 1943.

	 Much of Seghers’ work addresses the rise of fascism and the grip 

of National Socialism on German politics and society between the 

wars. Of her novels, The Seventh Cross, published in 1942 (and made 

into a Hollywood film), is mainly set in (fictitious) Westhofen, one of 
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the early concentration camps, and describes the attempt of seven 

prisoners to escape from the camp. The Excursion of the Dead Girls 

(written in Mexico in 1943-44 and published in 1946) recounts a 

school outing on the Rhine after the First World War and the differ-

ing fates of the children in the years to come. In her novel Transit, 

her protagonist has escaped a concentration camp and is a refugee 

waiting in Marseilles (France) for a boat to leave Europe. Seghers 

returned to Germany in 1947 and settled in East Berlin in 1950. She 

died in June 1983. 77
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Fig. 4.1  Paul Mayer Kennkarte.  
After the war began, my grandmother’s uncle was forcibly housed at 54 Adam-
Karrillon-Strasse, just around the corner from Kaiserstrasse. Source: Central Archive 
for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 4.2  13 Adam-Karrillon-Strasse. It had belonged to the wine 
merchant Siegmund Vogel. The building next to it was also taken over 
and used as a judenhaus. Photo by Schwalbner, via Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 4.3  Robert Loeb Kennkarte. 
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 4.4  Hugo Loeb Kennkarte. 
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 4.5  Johanna Loeb Kennkarte.  
Jewish women without readily identifiable Jewish names were obliged to adopt the 
middle name Sara. Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews 
in Germany.

Fig. 4.6  Ruth Regina Bockmann, from her 
kennkarte. Leaving her parents behind, 
Ruth arrived in Argentina in 1940 aged 
20 before settling in the US where she 
lived with her husband Carl Freitag and 

their child. Courtesy of Dennis Aron.
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Fig. 4.7  Emil Julius Seligmann Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 4.8  Nathan Family Stolpersteine, 24 Kaiserstrasse. Photo by Nixnubix 
via Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 4.9  Adolf Kahn Kennkarte. 
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 4.10  Erich Kahn Kennkarte 
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 4.11  Netty and Hedwig Reiling. Source: Mainz City 
Archives, Reference: BPSF/595 D.

Fig. 4.12  Anna Seghers in 1975. Photo by Horst Sturm 
via Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 4.13  Isidor Reiling Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 4.14  Grave of Rabbi Dr Sali Levi, Jewish Cemetery, 
Weissensee-Berlin. Levi died in Berlin in 1941 en route to the US. 
Source: Ancestry.com.
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Fig. 4.15  Page of Testimony for  Hedwig ‘Heddy’ Reiling. 
Heddy’s cousin Regina Rosenberger filed this Page of Testimony. Before Hedwig was deported to 
Piaski, she was registered at 32 Kaiserstrasse. Source: Yad Vashem Hall of Names.
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Chapter 5. The Murdered
In many cases it is not obvious when individuals took up residence 

on Kaiserstrasse, or their relationship or connection to the other 

families with whom they shared accommodation. Many of the prop-

erties were large, and if they were like my grandmother’s childhood 

home at number 32, had been divided into units following the First 

World War ready for multiple-occupancy. Undoubtedly this was a 

benefit the Nazis recognised and of which they took advantage.

	 The movements of Franziska Nachmann (b. 1918, née Mayer), 

who appeared on the 1939 census at number 53, are an example of 

how fluid the situation was for Jews at the time, and how individuals 

moved around as they sought safety or were forcibly taken to differ-

ent addresses. 

	 As far as I can determine, she is not directly linked to the family 

of prominent community leader Bernhard Albert Mayer (b. 1866), 

who was associated with the house through the Martin Mayer jew-

ellery business and left for Buenos Aires in March 1941 with his wife 

Adele (b. 1873). I suspected she was put there simply because she 

shared a surname. 

	 Franziska was the daughter of Julius Mayer (b. 1882) and Clem-

entine (b. 1885, née Bodenheimer). According to Horst Kasper, 

a researcher based in Bodenheim near Mainz, her place of birth, 

Franziska was brought up in modest circumstances and worked as a 

waitress in a café in Mainz. While the 1939 census puts her at 53 Kai-

serstrasse, before her marriage she lived at 32 Flachsmarkt. By 1941 

she was married and living at 15 Leibnizstrasse with her husband 

Joseph Nachmann, according to Kasper. 

	 Both husband and wife were in possession of exit documents and 

had travel tickets when Franziska was arrested, Kasper discovered. 
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Franziska and her husband were sent to Piaski in 1942 on the 25 

March transport. Joseph (who was never registered at number 53) 

died in 1942 at the Majdanek concentration camp on the outskirts 

of the city of Lublin in Poland not far from Piaski. Franziska died at 

Piaski.

	 Franziska’s father Julius Mayer died in Auschwitz in May 1944, 

while her mother Clementine survived the war and died in Alsace in 

1948. Their son Lothar (b. 1913), Franziska’s brother, had emigrated 

to Palestine in 1935.

	 Another Mayer living at number 53 was Albert Mayer (b. 1874), 

Bernhard Albert Mayer’s cousin, who, with his brother Ernst Mayer 

(b. 1878), assisted Bernhard Albert with the family jewellery business. 

Albert fled to France in 1939 where he was later arrested. He was 

killed at Auschwitz in December 1943. 

	 Albert’s wife Emma Mayer (b. 1887, née Lauinger) had also ar-

rived in France in 1939, travelled on to Switzerland and had made 

it to the US by 1940. She could have been in the company of their 

daughters Jula Mayer (b. 1910) and Margot Weinbach (b. 1913, née 

Mayer) who took the same route around the same time.  

	 Both daughters lived long lives. Jula died in New York in 1983, 

while Margot, known as Margrit, who fled first to France in 1939, 

appears to have returned there. She died there in 2004. She was 

awarded France’s Medal of Resistance on 23 Oct 1945. Albert and 

Emma’s son Bernhard Albert Mayer (b. 1914) left Mainz in 1937. He 

appears to have joined his family in the US and died in New York in 

1986. 

	 Another resident of number 53, Helene Heinemann (b. 1878)—like 

Franziska, I do not know her connection to the Mayer family—left 

for Sweden in 1939.
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	 Karl Schloss (b. 1876) was also recorded as living at number 53 

before he fled to the Netherlands. Following his arrest, he was mur-

dered at Auschwitz in January 1944. However, Karl’s wife Lina Schloss 

(b. 1875, née Liebenstein) survived, arriving in the US at some point 

before 1949 before moving on to Rio de Janeiro in 1951. By then she 

was an elderly widow compelled to start a new life in a foreign place.

	 Also living at number 53 for a short period were Frieda Jourdan 

(b. 1886) and her sister Johanna Jourdan (b. 1891) after this property 

had become a judenhaus. They were last registered at 32 Kaiser-

strasse before they were deported to Treblinka on the transport that 

left on 30 September 1942.

	 Those with Frieda and Johanna on this final mass transport from 

Mainz must have been under no illusion about their fate. They had 

already been or seen their neighbours being shunted from property 

to property and then disappear and never return. They may have 

even received correspondence from relatives who had been sent to 

Piaski and Theresienstadt earlier and were desperate for help. 78

	 The family of Salomon (Sally) Haas (b. 1879) at number 74 Kai-

serstrasse exemplify this pattern of moving people from house to 

house and separating families prior to deportation. Sally lived with 

his sister Klara Koch (b. 1877, née Haas), his daughter Alice Klara Ma-

ria Haas (b. 1908), his son Emil Jakob Haas (b. 1905) and Emil’s wife 

Martha (b. 1898, née Strauss). Sally’s wife Maria had died in 1935. 

Klara’s husband Albert Koch (b. 1877) had been taken from the house 

in late 1940 and died that December.

	 After then, the family was probably all moved to the judenhaus 

at 58 Adam-Karrillon-Strasse. By the summer of 1941, Klara and 

Alice shared a room there. In March 1942, Emil, Martha and Alice 

were deported to Piaski. Emil may have died at Majdanek. Before 



94	 Jews of Kaiserstrasse

Sally Haas and Klara Koch were deported to Theresienstadt on the 

27 September transport, they were moved to a judenhaus at 91/10 

Schiessgartenstrasse. Sally died at Theresienstadt in May 1943 aged 

64. Klara died there the following April. 

	 Friedrich Karl Buschhoff (b. 1891) from Worms was also regis-

tered at 74 Kaiserstrasse. He was sent to Buchenwald in September 

1943. He died in January 1945 at a labour camp.

Age No Bar

Many of the Kaiserstrasse residents loaded on to the goods trains 

destined ultimately for the concentration or extermination camps 

were very elderly. It is possible they were too old or infirm to flee, 

or equally likely they could not obtain exit permits or entry visas to 

safe countries in time.

	 Moritz Oppenheim (b. 1877) and his wife Marie Oppenheim (b. 

1881, née Landauer) lived at number 82 before they were moved to 

16 Eleonorenstrasse at Mainz-Kastel and then deported on the first 

mass transport, the Da 14 train that left Darmstadt on 25 March and 

would take them to Piaski. Moritz was approaching his 65th birth-

day. Marie was 60.

	 Heinrich Wolff (b.1878) and his wife Selma (b. 1883, née Hecht) of 

29 Kaiserstrasse were on the same train, which left on his 64th birth-

day. Selma was 59 years old. They did not survive. They had fled 

from Nackenheim, a wine-growing village near Mainz, in the 1930s, 

seeking safety in the city. Regina Schmidt (b. 1879, née Wendel) who 

lived at the same address was on the same transport. 

	 Gustav Blum (b. 1865) was 77 years old and his wife Charlotte 

Blum (b. 1875, née Mainzer) was 67 when they died at Theresienstadt 

in January and March 1943 respectively. They had lived in an apart-
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ment at number 24 Kaiserstrasse, with Simon Gaertner (b. 1861) and 

his wife Juliane Gaertner (b. 1859, née Blum), who was a relative, be-

fore they were moved to 17 Walpodenstrasse, another judenhaus. 

Simon died in July 1940 in Mainz. Juliane was 83 when she died at 

Theresienstadt. Robert Blum (b. 1880)—who was also likely a rela-

tion, although I have not be able to prove this—died in the Lodz 

ghetto in August 1942 aged 62. 

	 Joel Emrich (b. 1867), who lived at 27 Kaiserstrasse with his wife 

Pauline (b. 1877, née Mann), died in Theresienstadt in March 1943, 

aged 76. Pauline managed to escape and passed away in the US years 

later in 1964. Ludwig Friedmann (b. 1882) and his sister Anna Jacko-

bine Friedmann also lived at number 27. Ludwig had fled to France 

where he was arrested and deported to Auschwitz in August 1942. 

Ludwig’s son Martin (b. 1924) had already fled to Switzerland in 

April 1939.

	 Up the street at number 55, Karoline Metzger (b. 1874, née Jung) 

was aged 68 when she was deported to Theresienstadt at the end of 

September 1942. She was last registered at 31 Taunusstrasse.

	 Albert Fried (b. 1870), who lived at number 66, with his wife, Frie-

da (b. 1877, née Schnurmann) died at Theresienstadt in January and 

July 1943, respectively. Albert was in his early seventies and Frie-

da not much younger. Their children Theo (b. 1902) and Emma (b. 

1905) survived. Theo arrived in Bolivia in June 1939, while Emma 

arrived in the UK in the same month. 

	 Georg August Mayer (b. 1878) lived at 94 Kaiserstrasse, the same 

building as Carl Theodor Frank who was betrayed by his tenant. 

Georg died in October 1942 aged 64 at Theresienstadt; a matter of 

days after the September transport arrived.
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	 Arthur Nathan Kahn (b. 1867), also formerly of 94 Kaiserstrasse 

was 75 when in September 1942 he was taken from 25 Breidenbach-

erstrasse, the Jewish home for the elderly. He died at Theresienstadt 

in October 1942. His wife Bertha Kahn (b. 1875, née Blum) died there 

in January 1944. Karl Herz (b. 1869) and his wife Adele Herz (b. 1880, 

née Mayer) lived at the same address. Adele died at Theresienstadt 

also in January 1944, followed by Karl in June. Karl would have been 

in his mid-seventies. Their much younger neighbour or possible 

maid Ingeborg (Inge) Henlein (b. 1921) had already been taken on 

the March 1942 transport to Piaski. She had just celebrated her 21st 

birthday.

	 Karl and Adele’s sons Franz Max Herz (b. 1902) and Alfred Emil 

Herz (b. 1906) had fled to England in August and September of 1939. 

Alfred continued on to the US. Anna Ketch (b. 1870, née Herz) lived 

at the same address and was probably a relative. In 1944, she also 

arrived in the US.

Separated Endings

By now it should be clear that not all residents of the same address 

or members of the same family suffered the same end. Isaac Jo-

seph Fulda (b. 1868) and his wife Johanna (b. 1874, née Rosenblatt), 

their son Ernst (b. 1899) and granddaughter Margot (b. 1930) fled 

38 Kaiserstrasse in August 1939 for the Netherlands. Margot’s father 

Leonhard Fulda had died in 1937. However, the war was to catch up 

with them. Ernst was taken to Auschwitz in September 1942, where 

he died. Isaak, Johanna and Margot were shipped to Sobibor in May 

1943 where they were murdered. Their neighbour Martin Koch (b. 

1872) of number 35 had also fled to the Netherlands in 1940. He was 

murdered in Auschwitz in November 1942.
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	 Isaak Jacob Schamroth-Landau (b. 1895) who lived at number 80 

Kaiserstrasse was born in Krakow. He too was to end his days at Aus-

chwitz, where he died in March 1942. However, records show that 

his wife Regina ‘Rivka’ Schamroth-Landau (b. 1897, née Fendler), 

also born in Krakow, died in December 1943 at Tarnow, a city east of 

Krakow that before the war was home to a sizeable Jewish popula-

tion. As the war progressed, the city was the scene of mass murder, 

deportations, selections and the establishment of a Jewish ghetto. 79 

The ghetto was destroyed in September 1943 and remaining resi-

dents were sent to Auschwitz or Plaszow extermination camps. 80

	 Isaak and Rivka’s daughters, Frieda ‘Frida’ Schamroth-Landau (b. 

1924) and Edith ‘Ester’ Schamroth-Landau (b. 1927), both born in 

Germany, died at some point between 1942 and 1945 in Krakow. 

	 At the beginning of the War, 80 Kaiserstrasse was also home to 

Rieka Lämmel (b. 1893, née Kirchheimer) and her children Hel-

la Lämmel (b. 1916) and Gerd Lämmel (b. 1920), who all died in 

Auschwitz in 1943. Rieka’s husband Max Lämmel (b. 1884) was a 

Protestant who had died in 1928, according to investigations con-

ducted by Mainz-based researcher Reinhard Frenzel. As Hella and 

Gerd were brought up as Jewish, under Nazi race laws they were de-

nied the protection of a ‘privileged mixed marriage’ in Nazi jargon, 

even though their mother had married a non-Jew. 81 In December 

1942 Hella was cautioned by the Gestapo for allegedly hiding the 

yellow star all Jews were compelled to wear on their outer garments. 

At some point the family was moved to an apartment at 3 Garten-

feldstrasse. According to Frenzel’s research, Hella was arrested in 

April 1943, when the family was living at 21 Margaretengasse, and 

sent to Auschwitz. (As were her mother and brother.)
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Died in Mainz

Some Kaiserstrasse residents, primarily the very old and the sick, 

passed away or committed suicide before the transports could take 

them to their deaths. I do not consider their endings benign. De-

prived of food, healthcare, dignity and liberty, they either gave up 

or decided to take matters into their own hands. 

	 Emma Frederike Neumann (b. 1858, née Gutmann) was one of 

Max Gutmann’s six daughters. My great grandmother Auguste was 

married to Max’s cousin Ferdinand, and lived close by. I believe 

she would have known Emma well. The older lady lived at num-

ber 27 Kaiserstrasse with her husband Bernhard Neumann (b. 1847). 

Around the same time my grandmother Milly was leaving for En-

gland, in April 1939, Emma committed suicide by ingesting Veronal 

(a barbiturate) and coal gas. Bernhard died the following January, 

perhaps of starvation. 

	 The Salomons lived at 37 Kaiserstrasse. Before the family shoe 

business was forcibly sold to a non-Jewish employee, it had support-

ed a very wealthy lifestyle for Fritz Siegfried Salomon (b. 1879), his 

wife Anny Bertha Salomon (b. 1888, née Baer) and their daughter 

Gertrude (b. 1918). Like the Gutmanns, they had a cook and a nanny 

and Gertrude attended the same high school as my grandmother, 

albeit at a later date. 82

	 As a young woman, Gertrude worked at a Jewish restaurant and 

a Jewish school, while she planned their escape to Switzerland. She 

was arrested in 1939, during which time (in July 1939) her father 

killed himself. 83 After her release, she obtained the transit visa re-

quired to travel to Shanghai from where she sought a visa for Cuba 

for her mother. It arrived too late. Anny was deported to Piaski in 

March 1942 and murdered at Treblinka. Gertrude remained in Chi-

na for the duration of the war. 
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	 Alice Kronenberger (b. 1878, née Kaufmann), who lived at 55 Kai-

serstrasse, died in 1941 in Mainz of suspected suicide. She is buried 

in the New Jewish Cemetery with her first husband Theodor Levi 

Morreau (b. 1871) who died in 1916. During her first marriage, she 

shared the same name as my grandmother’s great friend and spon-

sor Alice Morreau (née Weinmann) who provided for and supported 

her and her children when they arrived in England in 1939 and for 

years after. Following Theodor’s death, Alice married Hermann Kro-

nenberger, a member of the German banking dynasty that owned 

an impressive establishment at 35-37 Grosse Bleiche.

	 Eugenie Rosalie Jourdan (b. 1873, née Gudenburg) lived at 66 

Kaiserstrasse. She died in May 1939, four years after her husband 

Siegfried and just before the war began. It appears she starved to 

death. 

	 The deaths on the same day, 27 September 1944, of three resi-

dents of  82 Kaiserstrasse: Else Besier (b. 1897, née Asnes) and her 

daughter Hildegard Besier, who was classified as half Jewish (b. 1930) 

and Klementine Eugenie Sauer (b. 1885, née Fridburg), were due to 

‘enemy action’, meaning they died in an Allied air raid. Hildegard’s 

older sister Irmgard Besier survived the war. 

	 At number 36, Emma Neumann’s sister Ida Wilhelmine Bing (b. 

1867, née Gutmann)—who would also have been known to Auguste 

and Milly—starved to death in May 1941. Her husband, Judge Simon 

Otto Bing (b. 1863) had died in 1937. Their daughter Elisabeth May-

er (b. 1894), a doctor, and her husband Ernst Joseph Mayer (b. 1885) 

died in Theresienstadt in 1943.

	 A number of esteemed individuals who had devoted their lives 

to public service lived on the street. Dr Moritz Karl Goldschmidt 

(b. 1873) lived at number 50 Kaiserstrasse. The former district court 
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director was unmarried and had no children, according to research 

conducted by Tillmann Krach. 84 On the questionnaire he was 

obliged to complete upon the introduction of the Law for the Res-

toration of the Professional Civil Service in April 1933, which would 

ultimately ban all those classified as Jewish from holding official 

positions, Goldschmidt noted that his parents Eduard and Rosalie 

Goldschmidt were baptised Protestants. 85 This apparently carried 

little weight with the Nazis and he was forced to retire in 1933 if he 

was to retain his pension for 39 years of service. 86

	 Prior to his death, he was compulsorily moved from number 50 

Kaiserstrasse to the judenhaus at number 21 before he was admitted 

to the Jewish Hospital at Gonsenheimer Strasse. His death certifi-

cate details ‘sleeping pill poisoning’ and suggests that he committed 

suicide. 87 He died on 30 March 1942, five days after the first mass 

deportation headed for the Piaski ghetto.

	 Eduard Strauss (b. 1869) was 70 when the war began. He was also 

sent from pillar to post, moving from 80 Kaiserstrasse to 3 Garten-

feldstrasse in 1940 to another judenhaus on Adam-Karrillon-Strasse 

and then on to the Jewish Hospital at Gonsenheimer Strasse, where 

he died in February 1942. His death certificate cites artherosclerosis 

(narrowing of the arteries) as the cause. Such a terrorised and unset-

tled life could not have helped the old man’s health.

	 Jacob (b. 1972) and Rosa Deutsch (b. 1880, née Lorch) lived at 19 

Kaiserstrasse. Jacob died in May 1940, I speculate of a combination 

of stress and starvation, and is buried in Mainz’s New Jewish Cem-

etery. Rosa managed to evade the Nazis and appears to have passed 

away in Vienna in 1947 on her way to Argentina.

	 However, the end of the war did not bring the end of suffering. 

Milly Franziska Mathilde Schiffner (b. 1902, née Lekisch) of number 
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42 must have been one of the last Jews left in Mainz when the war 

ended in September 1945. She did not live long enough to see the 

city restored. She died in April 1949 aged 47 of suspected starvation.

	 During their long lifetimes, the elderly residents of Kaiserstrasse 

witnessed great changes in the status of the Jewish community in 

Mainz. When they were children, many were for the better, but un-

doubtedly, in their latter years, all of them for the very much worse. 

Adolf Kern (b. 1937), who died in Mainz in March 1940, registered at 

82 Kaiserstrasse, was two years old when he passed away. He would 

only have known starvation and deprivation.
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Fig. 5.1  The Holocaust in Occupied Poland 
Source:  Wikimedia Commons/Dennis Nilsson. Public domain.
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Fig. 5.2  Position of the Deportation Ramp at the Main Train Station in Mainz. 
The Old Jewish Cemetery is located directly opposite. Source: Mainz City Archives,  
Reference: BPSP/595 D.
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Fig. 5.3  Franziska Nachmann 
(née Mayer) Kennkarte. 
Source: Central Archive for the 
Study of the History of the 
Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.4  Joseph Nachmann 
Kennkarte. Franziska’s 
husband who died at 
Majdanek Concentration 
Camp in Poland. Source: 
Central Archive for the Study 
of the History of the Jews in 
Germany.

Fig. 5.5  Clementine Mayer 
Kennkarte. Mother of 
Franziska Nachmann. Source: 
Central Archive for the Study 
of the History of the Jews in 
Germany.
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Fig. 5.6  Postcard from Piaski. Moritz Fried writes from the Piaski ghetto-transit camp near Lublin 
in April 1942 a month after the first mass deportation of Jews from Mainz. The card is addressed 
to Michel Oppenheim, 21 Kaiserstrasse. Source: Mainz City Archives, Reference: NL Oppenheim 
/49,5, site 8.

Fig. 5.7  Stolpersteine for the Mayer Family, 53 Kaiserstrasse. Photos by Nixnubix via Wikipedia.org.
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Fig. 5.8  Karl Schloss Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.9  Brazilian Entry Visa. Lina Schloss, Karl’s wife, arrived in Rio de Janeiro from New York in 
1951 aged 75. Source: Ancestry.com.
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Fig. 5.10  Salomon (Sally) Haas Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.11  Emil Jakob Haas Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 5.12  Albert Koch Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.13  Gustav Blum Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 5.15  Moritz Oppenheim Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.14  Marie Oppenheim (née Landauer) Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 5.16  Heinrich Wolff Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.17  Selma Wolff (née Hecht) Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 5.19  Simon Gaertner Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.18  Joel Emrich Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 5.21  Stolperstein Outside 24 Kaiserstrasse. 
Photo by Nixnubix via Wikipedia.org.

Fig. 5.20  Simon and Juliane Gaertner’s Grave, 
New Jewish Cemetery Mainz. Source: Michael S. 
Phillips Archive.
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Fig. 5.22  Ludwig Friedman 
Kennkarte. Source: Central 
Archive for the Study of 
the History of the Jews in 
Germany.

Fig. 5.23  Anna Jakobine 
Friedmann. Source: Central 
Archive for the Study of 
the History of the Jews in 
Germany.

Fig. 5.24  Albert Fried 
Kennkarte. Source: Central 

Archive for the Study of 
the History of the Jews in 

Germany.
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Fig. 5.25  Georg August Mayer Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.26  Arthur Nathan Kahn Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 5.27  Ingeborg Henlein Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.28  Isaac Joseph Fulda Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 5.29  Fulda Family 
Stolpersteine, 38 

Kaiserstrasse.  The stones 
were laid in a ceremony on 

18 February 2014. Photo by 
Nixnubix via Wikipedia.org.

Fig. 5.30  38 Kaiserstrasse. Source: 
Michael S. Philips Archive.
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Fig. 5.31  Martin Koch 
Kennkarte. Source: Central 
Archive for the Study of 
the History of the Jews in 
Germany.

Fig. 5.32  Hella Lämmel 
Kennkarte. Source: Central 
Archive for the Study of 
the History of the Jews in 
Germany.

Fig. 5.33  Gerd Lämmel 
Kennkarte. Source: Central 
Archive for the Study of 
the History of the Jews in 
Germany.



118	 Jews of Kaiserstrasse

Fig. 5.34  Fritz Siegfried Salomon Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.35  Kronenberger Bank at 35-37 Grosse Bleiche, Mainz in 1911. 
Source: unknown, public domain.
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Fig. 5.36  Dr. Moritz Karl Goldschmidt Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 5.37  Stefan Jacob Deutsch Kennkarte.  
Source: Central Archive for the Study of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Chapter 6. The Survivors
Like many families on Kaiserstrasse, my own was split between 

those who managed to escape the murderous Nazi regime, like my 

grandmother Milly, my mother Anneliese and uncle Max Walter, 

and those that got caught in the Nazi net (even though they may 

have thought they had found sanctuary)—like Milly´s mother Au-

guste, sister Anny and brother Karl and his wife Sonja and their little 

boy Joe.

	 I can imagine planning an escape from Germany—where to 

go, the route to take, what to take, getting the paperwork needed 

from a regime that was enthusiastically hostile—was desperately 

nerve-racking. In the case of my grandmother, she had great friends 

in England already in the form of sisters Alice Morreau and Berthe 

Goetz who helped her enormously. Crucially, they provided spon-

sorship to Milly and her children, as well as emotional and practical 

support. My grandmother also had the money needed to pay for a 

German exit visa.

	 For those who did manage to flee, their destinations varied. My 

research has largely focused on those that escaped in 1939 and after. 

By the end of the Second World War, former residents of Kaiser-

strasse were scattered around the globe. My grandmother made a 

home for herself and her two children in England. So did Elisabeth 

Gabriel (b. 1899) of 84 Kaiserstrasse, who arrived in August 1939. 

Charlotte Schad (b. 1920), from 29 Kaiserstrasse, was 19 when she 

arrived in the UK in 1939. She married a year later. Fritz (b. 1860) 

and Lilly Valfer (b. 1876) and Karola Goldstein (b. 1920)—recorded at 

the same house, number 29—also arrived in the UK in 1939, as did 

Gertrude Mayer (b. 1905) of 94 Kaiserstrasse and Bernhard Kahn (b. 

1928) and Doris Kahn (b 1924), who were probably siblings and lived 

at number 96.
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	 For many, the UK was a transit point en route to a destination 

far from war-torn Europe. Reaching America—which did not enter 

the War until December 1941—was the objective for most Jews seek-

ing safety, and Kaiserstrasse residents were no exception. However, 

under the US immigration quota system, by June 1939, the waiting 

list for Germans seeking to immigrate to the US had reached more 

than 300,000—more than double the year before. In 1939, the US 

government issued the entire German quota of just under 30,000 

visas. 88

	 Those who were successful had been made to jump through 

bureaucratic hoops to obtain exit and transit permissions, supply 

identity paperwork, police reports and financial affidavits, and to 

secure the funds to have a ticket in hand, all at a time of escalating 

persecution, discrimination and exclusion from public life. 89 They 

had also to find a US sponsor willing to put up cash, if need be to 

secure their visa.

	 The Sichels, my grandmother’s neighbours at 26, 28 and 30 

Kaiserstrasse, who were also active in the wine trade, all transited 

through the UK on their way to the US. Eugen (b. 1881) Sichel, his 

wife Franziska (b. 1938, née Loeb,) and their children Peter (b. 1922) 

and Ruth (b. 1920) arrived in England in 1938 before travelling—I 

suspect—by ship to the US. Peter Sichel served as an officer in the 

US Army and returned to Mainz in 1945 as part of the liberating 

forces, as detailed in his book. 90 Another Kaiserstrasse resident, Ed-

gar Allmeier (b. 1912) of number 21 also served in the US military 

and settled in the US after the war. He died in Philadelphia in 1979. 

	 The family of Ernst Mayer (b. 1878), Bernhard Albert Mayer’s 

cousin and colleague at the Martin Mayer jewellery business along 

with his brother Albert Mayer (b. 1874), lived at number 24 Kaiser-

strasse. Ernst also managed the family’s brewery, Sonnenbrauerei, 
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before it was ‘aryanized’ in 1938. Ernst committed suicide in March 

1939 and is buried on the New Jewish Cemetery. Records show that 

his wife Emmy Mayer (b. 1893, née Reitzenstein) arrived in England 

in 1939. Their daughter Liselotte (b. 1913) also arrived safely in En-

gland before travelling on to the US. 

	 Eugene (b. 1876) and Ida Koch (b. 1893) of 38 Kaiserstrasse arrived 

in the US in May 1939, as did Johanna Mayer (b.1886, née Kapp) of 

number 55, and Alex Abraham (b. 1891) and Hedwig Abraham (b. 

1890, née Mayer) of 56 Kaiserstrasse. 

	 The Blums of 48 Kaiserstrasse, Willy (b. 1886), Camille (b. 1864, 

née Sichel) and their sons Richard (b. 1889) and Walter (b. 1893), were 

another wine merchant family. Willy, Camille and Walter arrived in 

the UK in June 1939, followed by Richard on 29 August 1939. Re-

cords show that both Richard and Walter petitioned to become US 

citizens. Richard’s naturalisation application made in Chicago de-

scribes him as a wine and liquor salesman with grey hair, blue eyes 

and a ruddy complexion.

	 Also in August 1939, Emma Irma Michel (b. 1884, née Altschul) 

arrived in New York. Emma had been living at 29 Kaiserstrasse, but 

apparently not with her daughter Erna (b. 1906), who arrived in New 

York from Hamburg in September 1937, or her divorced husband, 

Julius Isaak Michel (b. 1877). Julius was deported to Theresienstadt 

in September 1942 and murdered on 6 May 1944 in Auschwitz. 

By 1940, Emma and Erna lived together in Chicago, where Emma 

died in June 1942. Emma’s sister Karoline ‘Carola’ Weis (b. 1879, née 

Altschul) also lived at 29 Kaiserstrasse for a short period. She was 

deported from Frankfurt/Main to Sobibor in June 1942.

	 Selma Löb (b. 1877) of number 82 arrived in the US in November 

that year. She was followed in February 1940, by Alfred Stern (b. 1895) 
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and Erna Stern (b. 1901, née Sanders) of 94 Kaiserstrasse. I assume 

they were married. Emma Pintus (b. 1871, née Reinach) of 15 Kaiser-

strasse arrived in New York on 13 April 1940 on the SS Westerland 

from Antwerp. Selma Stern (b. 1893, née Mayer) of 19 Kaiserstrasse 

also arrived in April 1940. Max Franz Herz (b. 1902) and Rosemarie 

Herz (b. 1915, née Brinitzer) of 35 Kaiserstrasse arrived in England 

in August 1939 before travelling on to New York, where they also 

arrived in April 1940.

	 The Gaertners of 94 Kaiserstrasse, Ernst Willy (b. 1891) and Jo-

hanna (b. 1896, née Oppenheimer) arrived in August 1940 in Seattle. 

Elsbeth Gaertner (1924) had already arrived in the UK in July 1939 

before she travelled on to New York in June 1940. Prior to leaving, 

Ernst was rescued from Gestapo detention by his elderly mother 

Juliane (b. 1859)—who would have been around 80 at the time and 

who demanded his release saying she had given two sons to Germa-

ny in the First World War and was not prepared to lose another. 91 

Juliane died in Theresienstadt despite her son’s efforts, made from 

abroad, to save her. 92

	 Ludwig Goldschmidt (b. 1882) who owned 31 Kaiserstrasse, the 

large property the Gestapo took over as their Mainz HQ, arrived 

in New York in late August 1940. Records show his wife Klara Gold-

schmidt (b. 1890) arrived in the UK in 1939 before travelling on to the 

US in August 1940. Their daughter Liselotte Goldschmidt (b. 1919) 

arrived in England in 1939, while Heinz Goldschmidt (b. 1925), their 

son, arrived in the Netherlands in 1939. Lily Goldschmidt (b. 1902) 

of 82 Kaiserstrasse arrived in England in July 1939. She appears to 

have lived there for the duration of the war before departing for 

New York, where she arrived in May 1946.

	 Dr Adolf Lekisch (b. 1878) and Nanette Lekisch (b. 1888, née Ful-

da) of number 29 arrived in the US in January 1941. Auguste Victoria 
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Marx (b. 1915) of 55 Kaiserstrasse arrived a month later. Albert Mann 

(b. 1880) and his wife Martha Mann (b. 1891, née Lorch) of 8 Kaiser-

strasse arrived in New York the following year. Ludwig (b. 1900) and 

Ella ‘Ellen’ Samson (b 1885) arrived in New York in late December 

1940. They had lived at 94 Kaiserstrasse.

	 Some headed first for Sweden, before travelling to the US. Kurt 

Johann Mayer (b. 1917), Ernst and Emmy Mayer’s son, had left Mainz 

in 1938 headed for Denmark, then Sweden, then the US. Katharina 

Klara Nathan (b. 1922) of 86 Kaiserstrasse was half Jewish. She head-

ed for Sweden where she gained citizenship before moving to the 

US in 1962. Her Jewish father Erich Dagobert Nathan (b. 1887) fled to 

Sweden,  where he died in 1944.

	 And then others, perhaps desperate to leave Germany and un-

able to wait any longer for their US quota number to come up, were 

forced to take a more circuitous route to get there. The Scheuer 

family of 29 Kaiserstrasse—Walter Karl Scheuer (b. 1896), his wife 

Gertrude Scheuer (b. 1902, née Lebrecht), their daughter Ruth (b. 

1930) and son Bernd (b. 1932) had visas for Chile but there was no di-

rect passage after the war had started. Therefore, they travelled first 

to China on the Trans-Siberian Railway, then through Korea before 

catching a boat to Japan where, after a short stay, they boarded an-

other boat destined for the US. They were not allowed to disembark 

at Seattle. And as Chile refused to let Jews go ashore the Scheuer 

family ended up in Mexico where the parents stayed for the rest of 

their lives. After the war, their son emigrated to Israel while his sister 

went to the US. The Heidenheimers of number 82, Albert (b. 1886) 

and Eva (b. 1893, née Lebrecht) also detoured to Japan before mak-

ing it to Seattle in July 1940, where they were joined later by their 

daughter Margret (b. 1925) and their son Willy (b. 1928), who had 

arrived in England in June 1939 on the kindertransport.
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	 The Rosenthal family at number 27 had planned to leave Ger-

many for years. 93 Salomon ‘Sally’ Rosenthal (b. 1891) had owned a 

prosperous butcher’s business before the 1933 boycott of Jewish 

enterprises, after which the family moved from Gross-Gerau to 

Mainz 94 and he tried to make a living in the wine trade. However, the 

family’s US quota number was high, which meant Sally, his wife Lina 

Rosenthal (b. 1896, née Seelig) and daughter Renate (b. 1926) had to 

wait. 95 Their home at number 27 was attacked during Kristallnacht. 96 

However, it was the German invasion of Poland that prompted their 

departure for Bolivia via the Netherlands, where they boarded a 

ship. They disembarked at Arica in Chile in November 1939 before 

continuing on to La Paz by train. Once they were settled in Bolivia, 

the family re-established a butchery business. 97 Renate later moved 

to New Jersey in the US. 98 

	 The Rosenthals were far from alone in settling—at least for a 

while—in South America, although once the war began, immigra-

tion regimes there were not much friendlier than the US. 99 Lischen 

Richart (b. 1971, née Kaufmann) of 84 Kaiserstrasse arrived in Ar-

gentina in February 1939. She was followed by Rosel Katzenstein (b. 

1878) of number 21, who arrived in March 1941. Rosa Mayer (b. 1876) 

left 26 Kaiserstrasse and arrived in Argentina in May that year, and 

Fritz Wolf-Deutsch (b. 1900) of 19 Kaiserstrasse arrived there in De-

cember 1939.

	 Also from number 21, Otto Abraham (b. 1895) and his wife Paula 

Abraham (b. 1898, née Marx) arrived in the Dominican Republic in 

August 1939. From number 27, Amalie Frost (b. 1878, née Gutenstein) 

arrived in Bolivia in February 1940, followed by Sofie Maas (b. 1873) 

from number 51 in March. Fanny Liebenstein (b. 1886, née Lieber), 

her nephew Justin Liebenstein (b. 1873) and Amalie Schmelzer (b. 

1872, née Lieber) all arrived in Montevideo, Uruguay in April 1941.
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	 Other destinations included neighbouring Switzerland, which 

perhaps served as a base while refugees made other plans. The law-

yer Paul Simon (b. 1884), owner of the house 21 Kaiserstrasse, his 

(second) wife Sofie Simon (b. 1893, née Frank), and their children 

Johannes (b. 1925) and Raimund (b. 1929) made it to Switzerland in 

1939. In May 1938 Louise Helena Fulda (b. 1865, née Ullmann) of 

number 29 left for South Africa. According to my research, only two 

Kaiserstrasse residents headed for Canada: Otto (b. 1885) and Lilly 

Neumann (b. 1893), who arrived there in 1939.

Privileged Mixed Marriage

A few Kaiserstrasse residents with Jewish heritage met criteria that 

excluded them from extermination. 100 Although his paternal lineage 

was Jewish, Karl Joseph Wolf (b. 1880) of 94 Kaiserstrasse survived 

the war because he was considered Catholic. He died in Mainz in 

1962. His Jewish father Lucian Wolf (b. 1844) had converted upon 

marrying a Catholic woman. As half Jewish, Karl and his brothers 

Ludwig Joseph (1877-1944) and Bruno (1878-1971) suffered during the 

Nazi years. They lost their jobs and their dignity, according to Elaine 

Holden, the wife of a Wolf family member. But, as Holden remarked 

in an email to me, they did at least keep their lives.

	 Hedwig Heinrich (b. 1877, née Steinhardt) lived at 25 Kaiserstrasse. 

According to research conducted by Reinhard Frenzel, Hedwig was 

born Jewish but was afforded ‘privileged mixed marriage’ status 

because she was baptised Catholic and in 1900 married a non-Jew, 

Friedrich Joseph Heinrich (b. 1865). She was not forced to join the 

Reich Association for Jews in Germany or wear a yellow star. The 

couple had three children:  Friedrich ‘Fritz’ Heinrich (1902-1991), 

Carl-Ernst (1907-2006] and Hanna (1905-1994], according to Fritz’s 

grandson Tim Hall, who told me that his grandparents talked lit-
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tle about the war. For them it was a sad time to be alive. Fritz was 

forced to work in a labour camp near Lahr in Luxembourg that was 

liberated by the US Army following the Battle of the Bulge. His wife 

Hedwig said she survived because American bombing destroyed the 

train lines. Tim said his mother was nine when the war ended and 

survived as she was hidden in the countryside.

	 The Kern family lived at 20 Horst-Wessel-Platz, formerly 20 

Kaiserstrasse. This was the same building as the Haas family´s, but 

the direction their lives would take was quite different. Ludwig Kern 

(b. 1903) was a Protestant, who married Johanna Martha Barbara 

Jourdan (b. 1898) around 1927, who was half Jewish. Johanna’s father 

Adolf was Jewish by birth, but baptised as a Catholic and her mother 

Barbara appears to have been Catholic and Johanna was brought up 

as such. Ludwig, Johanna and their daughter Margot Barbara Johan-

na Kern (b. 1928) all survived the war under the rules of ‘privileged 

mixed marriage’. Margot was considered a ‘quarter-Jew’ according 

to the records of the Frauenlob-Gymnasium, where she enrolled in 

1939. 

	  Eleanor Marx (b. 1871, née Levy) who appears on the Oppen-

heim list of Jews registered at number 27 Kaiserstrasse survived the 

war with at least one of her daughters Marie Marx (b. 1906) and two 

sons Walter and Werner. How is unknown to me. Like so much in-

formation on individuals who suffered during the Holocaust, exact 

details are hard to find. Eleanor died in Mönchengladbach in Ger-

many in 1953, confirmed by Marie who died in Laubach in 1992 and 

the archives at Aachen, the town where Eleanor had married cloth 

manufacturer Ernst Marx in 1896.
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Fig. 6.2  Ludwig Goldschmidt 
kennkarte. The Goldschmidt 
family had lived at 31 
Kaiserstrasse before they 
fled Germany and the 
house became Gestapo 
headquarters. The notes on 
the card suggest the original 
was confiscated at the border.
Source: Central Archive for the 
Study of the History of the 
Jews in Germany.

Fig. 6.1  Fig. 6.1 Ludwig and Klara Goldschmidt (back row, fourth and fifth from left) at a family 
party, c. 1914. Ludwig’s cousin, Siegmund Neugarten, is at back left with daughter Trude; his aunt, 
Lina Goldschmidt, is in the second row, third from left. Klara’s parents, the Wertheimers, are at back 
right. Courtesy of Christopher Burnton. 



Jews of Kaiserstrasse	 129

Fig. 6.3  Application for US war service compensation. Edgar Allmeier of 21 Kaiserstrasse joined the 
US Army in 1942, aged 30. Source: Ancestry.com.



130	 Jews of Kaiserstrasse

Fig. 6.5  Manifest for SS Rakuyo Maru. 
Passengers sailing from Tokyo to Seattle include the Scheuer family of 29 Kaiserstrasse. 
Source: Ancestry.com.

Fig. 6.4  Dr Adolf Lekisch Kennkarte.  
Despite strict US visa quotas and numerous bureaucratic hurdles, as well as the 
perils of transatlantic travel, Dr Lekisch and his wife Nanette arrived in the US in 
early 1941. They had lived at 29 Kaiserstrasse. Source: Central Archive for the Study 
of the History of the Jews in Germany.
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Fig. 6.6  Richard Blum’s petition for naturalisation as a US citizen Source: Ancestry.com.
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Fig. 6.8  Julius Isaak Michel 
Kennkarte. Emma Michel’s ex-
husband Julius was murdered 
at Auschwitz. Source: Central 
Archive for the Study of the 
History of the Jews in Germany.

Fig. 6.9  Alfred Emil Herz 
Kennkarte. Source: Central 

Archive for the Study of the 
History of the Jews  

in Germany.

Fig. 6.7  Emma Irma Michel 
(née Altschul) Kennkarte. 
Source: Central Archive for the 
Study of the History of the 
Jews in Germany.



Jews of Kaiserstrasse	 133

Fig. 6.10  Eva Heidenheimer (née Lebrecht). 
Eva and her husband Albert arrived in Seattle 
in 1940 via Japan. Source: US Declaration of 
Intention; Ancestry.com

Fig. 6.11  Albert Heidenheimer’s Declaration 
of Intention lodged in Los Angeles lists his wife 
Eva and two children Margret and Willy.  
Source: Ancestry.com.
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Fig. 6.12  Privileged Mixed Marriage: Friedrich and Hedwig Heinrich’s 
marriage certificate. The stamps on the marriage certificate show the 
Nazi authorities examined it to determine whether Hedwig, who was 
born Jewish, was eligible for privileged mixed marriage status. She 
survived the war. Although my grandmother was not at all religious, 
when I was a child she insisted I had been baptised, which I believe was 
a legacy of that time. Better to be safe than sorry. Source: Ancestry.com.
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Chapter 7. The End
By the end of the Second World War, the Jewish community in 

Mainz had been destroyed. Its members, Orthodox and Reform, 

conservative and liberal, segregated and assimilated, had either fled 

the Nazi regime or been murdered by it. In May 1939, there were 

only 1,453 members left, most aged 40 or more. 101 By 1948, this al-

ready shrunken figure stood at just 80. According to Beate Meyer 

in her book A Fatal Balancing Act, around 3,240 Jews were deport-

ed from the Rhine-Hesse region by the Nazis, of which 1,131—more 

than a third—were from Mainz. 102 

	 Of those that had made it to safety, I’m not aware of any that 

returned for good. My grandmother did consider moving back to 

Germany—after all she had grown up there and lived most of her 

life in Germany, where she owned property and land and a busi-

ness—but decided against it. Her family was in England; she had 

friends and support there in the form of Alice Morreau and Berthe 

Goetz. Also, life after the war in a defeated Germany was not easy for 

anyone, and certainly not Jews. Anti-Semitism did not immediately 

evaporate with the demise of the Nazis. 

	 Today, the Jewish population in Mainz stands at around 1,100, 

boosted by emigration from the former Soviet Union. A new syna-

gogue and Jewish community centre opened in 2010 on the site of 

the 1912 Main Synagogue (and its school and museum), which was 

looted and destroyed on Kristallnacht. 103 

	 The city remains a focal point of European Jewish history, which 

dates back to the 10th century. Reflecting its importance, together 

with the nearby towns of Speyer and Worms, Mainz is part of an 

application to become a UNESCO World Heritage site. 104 Tourists 

can pay their respects at the old Judensand graveyard, visit the New 
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Jewish Cemetery with its Hall of Mourning, be astonished by—at 

almost 1,000 years old—the oldest datable Jewish gravestone in cen-

tral Europe which is on display at the Landesmuseum. The museum 

houses a Judaica collection and a memorial to the Jews deported 

from Mainz. 

	 A short distance down Mombacher Strasse from the main rail-

way station, just across the road from the Old Jewish Cemetery, sits 

another important site relevant to the Jews of Mainz. This is the spot 

where, in 1942 and 1943, hundreds of Jewish people, young and old, 

waited at the deportation ramp to be taken to their deaths, including 

residents of Kaiserstrasse. Kaiserstrasse begins a short distance away. 

Walking down it toward the Rhine you can take in the magnificence 

of the remaining 19th century mansions while noticing the stolper-

steine carefully laid in the pavement to commemorate the Jewish 

residents who used to live there. 

	 In my research I have documented the fate of around 300 Jews 

who at one point from 1933-1945 lived on Kaiserstrasse, some be-

cause it was their home and others because they were forcibly housed 

there. I discovered that 118 individuals from this single street were 

murdered by the Nazi regime. The figure includes those who were 

deported to transit camps and death centres, as well as those who 

died in Mainz of starvation, illness or suicide linked to persecution. 

Seven individuals survived as they fitted the classification of ‘non-

Jew’. Life would have been a struggle for them too. 

	 Of the murdered, many had been sequestered together in juden-

häuser on Kaiserstrasse and around the city and travelled together 

on the mass deportations to the Piaski ghetto-transit camp in March 

1942, and to Theresienstadt and Treblinka at the end of September 

that year. Others were murdered elsewhere, including Auschwitz, 
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Belzec, Buchenwald, Majdanek, Plaszow, Sachsenhausen, and Sobi-

bor camps, as well as Krakow and Tarnow.

	 By my count, 84 Jews left the street from 1933-1939 and 97 man-

aged to leave from 1939 onwards. Most of those headed for the US. 

Some ended up in unexpected places, such as Shanghai and the Do-

minican Republic. These were among the few jurisdictions that did 

not require an entry visa or apply a severely restricted quota regime. 

	 It is striking that these figures relate to just one street in one 

German city. I put the relatively high number of refugees down 

to the wealth of the street’s pre-war residents that provided them 

with the means of escape. Jews with more moderate finances living 

elsewhere in Mainz, Germany or Nazi-occupied Europe would not 

have been in the same privileged position. My grandmother Milly 

Schwarz (née Gutmann), mother Anneliese and uncle Max Walter, 

although displaced and stripped of their assets, possessions and 

their home and grieving for lost family and friends, were among the 

lucky ones. 105
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Fig. 7.1  Damage in and around Kaiserstrasse in December 1946. About 80 percent of the buildings 
in Mainz were destroyed by Allied bombing, shown in medium-dark grey on the map. Source: Mainz 
City Archives, Reference: BPSP/595 D.
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Fig. 7.2  Grosse Bleiche, 1945. The image shows the extent of the damage inflicted on a main street  
a short distance from Kaiserstrasse. Courtesy of Mainz City Archives. 
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Fig. 7.3  Oppenheim List, page 1. The title of the page is: List of the Jews emigrated since 1933 from 
the municipality of Mainz. Source: Mainz City Archives, Reference: NL Oppenheim 49,6 Site 141.
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Fig. 7.4  Jewish Emigration from the Hesse Region from January 1938–30 September 1940 by 
Month. Source: Mainz City Archives, Reference: NL Oppenheim 49,6 Site 197.
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Fig. 7.5  Jewish Emigration from the Hesse Region from January 1938–30 September 1940 by Year. 
Source: Mainz City Archives, Reference: NL Oppenheim 49,6 Site 194.
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